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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM
GEM 245t

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.

Unless otherwise stated, all monetary figures are expressed in SGD.
Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have
been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as
totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the
figures preceding them. Expressions used throughout this report have
their meanings set out in the section headed “Definitions and Glossary
of Technical Terms”.

This report will remain on the website of GEM at www.hkgem.com on
the “Latest Listed Company Information” page for at least 7 days
from the date of publication and on the website of the Company at
www.sunlightpaper.com.sg.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNFEH
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DNREH
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEBE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report and
the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2020.

The FY2020 results reflected the impact of COVID-19 pandemic.

Our revenue was affected by Circuit Breaker and Safe Management
Measures. Our main clients were corporate customers, most of which
could not carry on their business fully due to the effects of Circuit
Breaker and Safe Management Measures.

Faced with these unprecedented challenges, we leveraged on our
experience in the industry to provide (i) non-tissue products including
face masks to our existing customers, and (i) tissue products and
tissue related services to new customers. These initiatives resulted in
an increase in revenue from other products and an increase in other
income, compared to FY2019.

PERFORMANCE

Our revenue reduced by 14.5% from $15.5 million in FY2019 to $13.2
million in FY2020. This was mainly due to lower quantities of tissue
products ordered by our corporate customers arising from the effects
of Circuit Breaker and Safe Management Measures.

Gross profit reduced by 11.5% from $3.5 million in FY2019 to $3.1
million in FY2020. This was a direct consequence of lower revenue.
Gross profit margin improved by 80 basis points, from 22.7% in
FY2019 to 23.5% in FY2020. This was attributable to the adjustment
of selling prices in FY2020.

We managed to maintain our profit level despite lower revenue, falling
slightly by 2.0% from $410,000 in FY2019 to $397,000 in FY2020.
This was caused by lower gross profit but offset by increase in other
income.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEBE

PROSPECTS

The Singapore government allowed the reopening of businesses over
3 phases, which is dependent on the rate of COVID-19 infection in
Singapore. At the date of this report, Singapore is in phase two.

We are confident in recovering our revenue as Singapore
progressively enter phase three.

QOver the past 43 years, we have built strong ties with customers and
suppliers. We provide quality products to our customers and maintain
product delivery satisfaction.

We will continue to evaluate development opportunities to strengthen
our competitive advantage and market-leading position. We monitor
new tissue product developments, continue to source for good
quality tissue paper and tissue products with competitive pricing, and
keep a look out for other tissue-related products.

We are optimistic about achieving sustainable growth and we are
committed to bring greater returns to our Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | express my sincere gratitude to our
management and staff for their hard work and dedication as well as
to our Shareholders and business partners for their support.

Chua Liang Sie
Chairman and Executive Director
Singapore, 11.12.2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFNWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

We supply tissue products to corporate customers in Singapore. We
provide comprehensive services, ranging from advising the types and
specifications of tissue products, sourcing suitable products,
conducting quality control, delivery of products through our fleet of
delivery trucks, to providing after-sales services.

Our revenue is mainly from the sale of: (i) tissue products, (i) hygiene-
related products, and (i) other related products.

Our revenue for the Relevant Year was $13.2 million, a decrease of
14.5% against the Previous Year. This was mainly due to lower
quantities of tissue products ordered by our corporate customers
during the Relevant Year, arising from the effects of Circuit Breaker
and Safe Management Measures.

Our profit for the Relevant Year was $0.4 million, similar to the
Previous Year.

PROSPECTS

We are optimistic that our industry in Singapore will recover from the
impact of COVID-19. The Singapore government imposed Circuit
Breaker and Safe Management Measures to curtail the local spread
of COVID-19. Businesses are allowed to reopen over 3 phases,
depending on the rate of COVID-19 infection in Singapore. At the
date of this report, Singapore is in phase two.

We are confident in recovering our revenue as Singapore
progressively enter phase three.

Over the past 43 years, we have built strong ties with customers and
suppliers. We provide quality products to our customers and maintain
product delivery satisfaction.

We will continue to evaluate development opportunities to strengthen
our competitive advantage and market-leading position. We monitor
new tissue product developments, continue to source for good
quality tissue paper and tissue products with competitive pricing, and
keep a look out for other tissue-related products.

We are optimistic about achieving sustainable growth and we are
committed to bring greater returns to our Shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt %5 51 B8
Revenue o
Hygiene-
Tissue related
products products Others Total
FEAER FHENEBER Hith Bzt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Fr Fr T
FY2020 2020 T B
Revenue from external customers KEIMEE PRz R
and reportable segment revenue A2HD 11,264 1,175 788 13,227
Segment profit DEER 2,567 416 128 3,111
FY2019 20198 B EE
Revenue from external customers KEIMEE PRz R
and reportable segment revenue B G 13,659 1,237 572 15,468
Segment profit DEEF 3,061 427 22 3,510

The revenue for the Relevant Year was $13.2 million, representing a
decrease of $2.2 million or 14.5% against the Previous Year revenue
of $15.5 million. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower
quantities of tissue products ordered by our corporate customers
during the Relevant Year, arising from the effects of Circuit Breaker
and Safe Management Measures.

° Sales of tissue products decreased by $2.4 million, representing
a decrease of 17.5%. This was due to the effects of Circuit
Breaker and Safe Management Measures.

° Sales of hygiene-related products decreased by $0.1 million,
representing a decrease of 5.0%. This was also due to the
effects of Circuit Breaker and Safe Management Measures,
although less severe because hygiene-related products were
mainly used by our customers in the health care sector who
were less affected by Circuit Breaker and Safe Management
Measures.

° Sales of other products increased by $0.2 million, representing
an increase of 37.8%. We sold face masks due to demand
caused by COVID-19.

° Throughout the Relevant Year, we adjusted our selling prices to
match the cost of inventory as we adopt a cost-plus pricing
policy. There were no interruption to the supply of inventory
despite COVID-19.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales decreased from $12.0 million to $10.1 million from the
Previous Year to the Relevant Year, representing a decrease of
15.4%. The overall decrease in cost of sales corresponded with the
decrease in revenue.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased by 11.4% from $3.5 million in the Previous
Year to $3.1 million in the Relevant Year. Gross profit margin
improved by 80 basis points, from 22.7% in the Previous Year to
23.5% in the Relevant Year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses remained the same at $1.5 million
despite the decrease in revenue. This was mainly attributable to
overall increase in salaries implemented in the beginning of FY2020,
before the impact of COVID-19 pandemic.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses remained the same at $1.6 million due to
cost controls measures implemented immediately to counter the
effects of Circuit Breaker and Safe Management Measures.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses reduced from $208,000 in the Previous Year to
$198,000 in the Relevant Year due to lower estimated chargeable
income in the Relevant Year.

Results for the Year
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company was $397,000 in the
Relevant Year, a slight decrease from $410,000 in the Previous Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30.9.2020, the Group had total assets of $26.2 million (2019:
$19.3 million), which was financed by total liabilities of $10.5 million
(2019: $4.1 million) and shareholders’ equity (comprising share
capital, share premium and reserves) of $15.7 million (2019: $15.2
million). The current ratio as at 30.9.2020 of the Group was 1.6 times
(2019: 3.9 times).
equivalents were used to pay for the purchase of production

During the Relevant Year, cash and cash

machinery and construction costs, as stated in the Use of Proceeds
section below.

Trade debtor and trade creditor turnover in the Relevant Year were
57.7 days (2019: 58.2 days) and 32.8 days (2019: 50.6 days)
respectively. Trade creditor turnover days reduced compared to the
Previous Year as we negotiated with some suppliers for lower
purchase prices in return for payment on delivery of products without
credit terms.

As at 30.9.2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of $3.9
million (2019: $7.0 million) which were placed with major banks in
Singapore and Hong Kong. The cash and cash equivalents were
mainly denominated in SGD.

The total interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group as at
30.9.2020 was $0.2 million (2019: $0.3 million). The bank borrowings
were denominated in SGD and carried an annual interest rate of 3%
(2019: denominated in SGD and carried an annual interest rate of
3%). The gearing ratio (calculated based on net debt divided by total
capital plus net debt, whereby net debt comprises borrowings, trade
and other payables and lease liability, less cash and cash equivalents)
of the Group as of 30.9.2020 was 0.25 (2019: not meaningful).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group transacts mainly in SGD, which is the functional currency
of all the Group’s operating subsidiaries. The Group is of the opinion
that its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Nevertheless,
the management monitors closely the Group’s foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other
plans for material investments or capital assets as of 30.9.2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

In the Relevant Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Significant Investments Held
The Group did not hold any significant investments in the Relevant
Year (2019: nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 30.9.2020, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2019: nil).

Capital Commitments

As at 30.9.2020, the Group committed to capital expenditure of $1.4
million for the extension of the factory building and the purchase of
production machineries (2019: $2.6 million for the extension of the
factory building).

Employee Information
As at 30.9.2020, the Group had an aggregate of 33 employees (2019:
32).

The employees of the Group are remunerated according to their job
scope and responsibilities. All employees are also entitled to
discretionary bonus depending on their respective performance.

Total staff costs in the Relevant Year, including Directors’
emoluments, amounted to $2.3 million (2019: $2.1 million).

The Group did not experience any significant problem with our
employees or disruptions to our operations due to labour disputes,
nor did the Group experience any difficulty in the recruitment and
retention of experienced employees. The Group continues to maintain
a good relationship with our employees.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
eligible persons, details are set out under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this annual report. The Group also provides and
arranges on-the-job training for the employees.

Charge on Group Assets
The bank borrowings were secured by the Group’s building on
leasehold land and a corporate guarantee from the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Share Offer were $4.6 million, which was

based on the gross proceeds from the Share Offer less the actual

expenses related to the Listing. Subsequent to the Listing and the

announcement entitled “Change in use of proceeds” dated 5.3.2019

(the “Announcement”), these proceeds will be used for the purposes

in accordance with the future plans as set out below:

FISREAZR

RIER D EERSRIBLEREBRA LT 2ER
FXEtE - B ) % & AT {5 518 ¥ 88 /% 4,600,000
Lo N EMEBEA2019F3 A58/ [E kAT
SRERZ] AE(7AENE  ZEMEHIE

RIS T SO L2 A B -

Use of proceeds
FrgsiERE
Expected
timeframe of
Actual full utilisation
use of Actual of unutilised
As disclosed in the proceeds use of Unutilised amount from
Prospectus and from proceeds amount  the Share Offer
subsequently adjusted Percentage of Listing Day during the asat asat
in the Announcement netproceeds  t030.9.2019 Relevant Year 30.9.2020 30.9.2020
BLTHEZE #2020
20195 9A30A
9A30R  EHEER 120205 FHBARG
RARERAHE frERR WEBFRE WEBHE  9B30AKN  READALE
REAZLEHAR BEEAL WERR BREZ  ADELE HEERER
Description HK$'000 S§'000 $$'000 8000 8$'000
i ThT THT T FH FHr
Upgrade our conversion line FREEREREER
for the production of HNEREg Fully utilized
jumbo roll tissue 6,200 940 20.7% - 940 - FEHE
Acquire a new conversion line BE—RNaniRLE By 30.9.2021
for the production of hand towels HFH 1,300 197 4.3% - 65 132 20219 A 30HA
Extension of existing factory BEEEIBAER
building and purchase liting EERERE(NE) By 30.9.2021
equipment (Note) 19,500 2,958 65.0% 903 1,514 541 2021F9A30 R
Working capital and other general BEERREM K Fully utllzed
corporate purposes 2R 3,000 455 10.0% 455 - - A
Total @t By 30.9.2021
30,000 4,550 100.0% 1,358 2,519 673 202159A 307

Note: As disclosed in the Announcement, the Board resolved to utilise the net
proceeds originally allocated for the investment in an additional factory
building to the extension of the existing factory building. The proceeds
were utilised, or were proposed to be utilised, according to the
intentions and expected timeframe previously disclosed in the
Prospectus and the Announcement. At the end of the Relevant Period,
the proceeds were not utilised according to the expected timeframe
previously disclosed in the Prospectus and Announcement arising from
unforeseen delays caused by COVID-19. Such delays include, but are
not limited to, suspension of operations by our production machine
suppliers and our factory extension contractors as decreed by their
respective governments and travel restrictions imposed by numerous
countries, including Singapore.

The unutilised net proceeds have been placed as interest bearing

deposits with a licensed bank in Singapore.

Wik MR SRR E20HABRESAIE
BES—ETMAENMEHRBEFEANRER
EIBAE - IEHECREBELEITRBRERR
ZAERENENRERBBERSERREE -
REBHBAR - AR COVID-19E B A8 B &Y
WERR - FTSRER AR ATR B R RZ A
EWENBHERNRYH - 2SERBE(ER
PRFA) BP9 O A EE A 8 L 7 R TR APT 0 TR 4 722
EZEBRESENRTESMEFEEE  UkE
B (B 4B Nk ) B e 60 bR B2 PR i o

REFAMBFORFED NIRRT ER
RETBIFR °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFNWR DM

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES
WITH ACTUAL PROGRESS

As at 30.9.2020, there has not yet been material progress in respect
of the business objectives related to the commercial production of
jumbo roll tissues and hand towels set out in the Prospectus because
the factory, where such commercial production was to be carried out,
was being extended, as explained in the Announcement. The
completion of the factory extension was delayed due to Circuit
Breaker and Safe Management Measures.

The following is a comparison of the Group’s business objectives as
set out in the Prospectus and the Announcement with actual
progress for the Relevant Year.
Implementation plan Scheduled activities for
as disclosed in Prospectus  the Relevant Year as disclosed
and subsequently adjusted  in the Prospectus

in the Announcement and the Announcement

EREREEREENLER

MR20205F9A30R - MABKREEMHABARSE
REFEIAFERELENEBEREMS - K
FERER  REARETHELEEMENIMIE
TEAERE (MR A S ATal) o TR 2 (R PRI 18 e J2
ZEEBERMEETT -

AT REREREMZASAHARENESB R
RERFECERERNLER -

Actual activities achieved for the Relevant Year

BRERMEERAENRZL BREEBRZAEHMEER
HEHERNERTE EHEENEEED REBFEENERED
Upgrade our conversion line for e Commercial production of o Fully utilised allocated proceeds for payment of the

the production of jumbo roll jumbo roll tissues by the

tissues upgraded conversion line o
AREERGREEANELR o BAARNERGEHEEEERE o
&5 REER

Acquire a new production line Commercial production of hand

for the production of hand towels

towels

BERTEEREERTH o HKFARFELEE .
Extension of existing factory o Completion of factory extension e
building and purchase lifting o
equipment (Note)

EREBEETIHAER o IREREL .
FEE R ERE (M) °

new tissue rewinder and associated costs

Received the new tissue rewinder

BEBA O ROMMETIAX M EEREBE &
BER

R R AE B

Paid 30% deposit for the new hand towel production
line

AT REERZNT 30% RE

Construction works to extend the factory in progress
Purchased lifting equipment

TITHRERZTIZETH
BEEERE

Note: As disclosed in the Announcement, the Board resolved to utilise the net
proceeds originally allocated for the investment in an additional factory
building to the extension of the existing factory building. For details,
please refer to the Announcement.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENRGREEE[N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chua Liang Sie, aged 61, is our executive Director, Chairman and
chief executive officer of our Company, who joined our Group in July
1982. He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee. He was appointed as our Director on
21.9.2017, and was re-designated as our executive Director and was
also appointed as our Chairman and chief executive officer on
30.10.2017. Mr. LS Chua is also a director of certain subsidiaries. Mr. LS
Chua is responsible for formulating the overall strategies and planning of
our Group. Mr. LS Chua is a director of YJH Group and is a Substantial
Shareholder.

Mr. LS Chua has over 35 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. In July 1982, Mr. LS Chua joined
Sunlight Paper as production manager, where he was responsible for
the production of conventional roll tissue, and was also appointed as
a director of Sunlight Paper. He became the managing director of
Sunlight Paper in February 1990 and since then, he is responsible for
the business strategies, planning and management of Sunlight Paper.
Mr. LS Chua completed secondary education in Singapore in 1975.

Mr. LS Chua is the younger brother of Ms. Chua and elder brother of
Mr. LC Chua, and the father of Mr. WH Chua.

Ms. Chua Joo Gek, aged 65, is our executive Director, who joined our
Group in July 1977. Ms. Chua was appointed as Director on 21.9.2017
and was re-designated as our executive Director on 30.10.2017. She is
also a director of certain subsidiaries. Ms. Chua is responsible for the
overall operations of our Group. Ms. Chua is a director of YJH Group
and is a Substantial Shareholder.

Ms. Chua has over 40 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. Ms. Chua joined Sunlight Paper as
warehouse supervisor and was appointed as a director of Sunlight
Paper in July 1977. From October 1982 to September 2005, she
served as administration manager. Since October 2005, Ms. Chua
has been the operations director of Sunlight Paper and is responsible
for the operations of Sunlight Paper. Ms. Chua completed primary
education in Singapore in 1967.

Ms. Chua is the elder sister of Mr. LS Chua and Mr. LC Chua and the
aunt of Mr. WH Chua.

HITES
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESERGREEE[N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chua Liang Chui, aged 59, is our executive Director and sales
director, who joined our Group in July 1982. He was appointed as
Director on 21.9.2017 and was redesignated as our executive
Director on 30.10.2017. Mr. LC Chua is also a director of certain
subsidiaries. He is responsible for sales and marketing of our Group.
Mr. LC Chua is a director of YJH Group and is a Substantial
Shareholder.

Mr. LC Chua has over 30 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. Mr. LC Chua joined Sunlight Paper
as logistics manager and was appointed as a director of Sunlight
Paper in July 1982. In October 1996, he was promoted to be
warehouse manager, and he served as sales manager in Sunlight
Paper from October 2006 to September 2010. Since October 2010,
Mr. LC Chua has been the sales director of Sunlight Paper and is
responsible for sales and marketing of our products for Sunlight
Paper. Mr. LC Chua completed secondary education in Singapore in
1977.

Mr. LC Chua is the younger brother of Ms. Chua and Mr. LS Chua
and uncle of Mr. WH Chua.

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao), aged 36, is our executive
Director and deputy chief executive officer, who joined our Group in
September 2013. He was appointed as Director on 21.9.2017. On
30.10.2017, he was re-designated as our executive Director and was
appointed as the deputy chief executive officer. Mr. WH Chua is also
a director of certain subsidiaries. He is responsible for assisting the
chief executive officer and implementing strategies of our Group.

Mr. WH Chua joined as sales manager of Sunlight Paper in
September 2013 and was responsible for sales of products for
Sunlight Paper. Prior to joining our Group, from November 2010 to
June 2012, Mr. WH Chua worked at HSBC in the HSBC Graduate
Internship Programme. Mr. WH Chua obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business management from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University in August 2010.

Mr. WH Chua is the son of Mr. LS Chua and the nephew of Ms. Chua
and Mr. LC Chua.

16 SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2020

HITEE W)

BRPELE 59 BITEFRHEERLE RN
1982F7 A MAREE - R 2017F9H21 A
BRI AESE  %BRA20174F10 A30 BFAEHIT
EF - ZERPEENAETHEATNES -
BEAREEEERMISGEHIIE - BRBAER
YIHEBEEREERR -

BRBEENCETPEEREMNEREB0F
4B o 22 R P £ 198247 B i A Sunlight
Paper (XY 4&£ 32 - W& Z £ & Sunlight Paper
B & F e MN1996F 108 # & F+ A Sunlight
Paper #] & FE4X 12 - WA 2006410 A £20104
9 AR EIHE IR - B2010F10 AL - R
F5 55 EE & 1E Sunlight Paper S8 S48 25 - 8 FH
& 2 & $ Sunlight Paper & NEm ° 2R B 4E
RA977 FAEF ML TR EHE -

BRPEERELTIRERBRENRBREX
IR

BIERE 3608  BITESRATHEAR - K
2013FQAMALRELERE o #32017F9 A21 H
EZITASEE  BA2017F10 A0 B ATHT
BEF WEZTRBEITTBEE - & XUELETR
ETHBARIMNES - KA ERITERERLH
FTAREE SRR o

F S £ 7201399 A JA Sunlight Paper #&
LS4 - B F Sunlight Paper & F$HE T E ©
MAREB A HEXELRER2010F1AE
20126 6 AFBEZRITER £ EIRELZRIT
WS e BXUER AR 2010 8 AR AZRE
T K & (Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University) IR £ E B2 LA o

BOUSRAERERBAEENR FURSE LT RE
RPBEENER



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENRGREEE[N

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie (“Mr. Ng”), aged 54, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 28.2.2019. He is a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Ng has over 25 years of experience in accounting, audit and
advisory services. Since March 2019, he has been a research
consultant.

Mr. Ng obtained a bachelor of accountancy from the National
University of Singapore in July 1990. He had worked in various
financial institutions as a tax officer, audit senior and investment
research analyst.

Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia (“Ms. Lye”), aged 53, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 28.2.2019. She is the
chairlady of our Audit Committee.

Ms. Lye has over 25 years of experience in accounting, audit and
finance. Ms. Lye had worked as, among others, audit senior,
accountant, finance and administration manager, financial controller
and finance and administration director in various institutions.

Ms. Lye obtained a bachelor of accountancy from the National
University of Singapore in July 1989, and became a Chartered
Accountant of Singapore in April 2014. Ms. Lye is currently managing
her family portfolio.

Mr. Tog Chek Soon (“Mr. Tog”), aged 54, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 27.11.2020. He is a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Tog is currently the Asia Sales Director of AMETEK Singapore Pte
Ltd. He has over 30 years of experience in the sale and marketing of
electrical components and equipment. Mr. Tog obtained a bachelor
of engineering (electrical) from the National University of Singapore in
June 1989, a graduate diploma in marketing from the Marketing
Institute of Singapore in May 1992 and a degree of master of
business administration from Cranfield University School of
Management in June 1994.

Mr. Tog is experienced in business culture across Asia by marketing
electrical components and equipment from European and American
manufacturers to customers in Asia including the ASEAN countries,
Australia, China, India, Japan and New Zealand.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESERGREEE[N

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Choy Tuck Leong (“Mr. Choy”), aged 55, joined our Group in

July 2017 and is our chief financial officer and one of our joint
company secretaries. Mr. Choy is responsible for overseeing the
overall corporate and financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Choy has approximately 30 years of experience in audit and
corporate finance. Mr. Choy obtained a bachelor’s degree of
accountancy from The National University of Singapore in June 1988.
He is a member and a fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountants since December 1992 and
November 2004, respectively. He is also a fellow certified public
accountant of CPA Australia since January 2010.

Ms. See Ai Kiok (“Ms. See”), aged 60, joined our Group in October
2009 as accounts executive. Ms. See is the head of human resources
of Sunlight Paper since October 2014. She is responsible for human
resources, accounts and administrative matters. Ms. See has over 25
years of experience in accounting and human resources. She
completed the London Chamber of Commerce and Industry
International Qualifications course in 1980.

Mr. Goh Kuang Song (“Mr. Goh”), aged 55, joined our Group as
warehouse manager in December 1993. Mr. Goh is the head of
logistics of Sunlight Paper since October 2006. Mr. Goh, has over 20
years of experience in logistics and is responsible for managing
warehouse and logistics matters.

Mr. Yong Ning Choy (“Mr. Yong”), aged 49, joined our Group as
machine operator in June 1998 and he is the head of production of
Sunlight Paper since October 2007. Mr. Yong has over 15 years of
experience in production and is responsible for overseeing production
of our tissue products.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. WH Chua is our compliance officer. He is also an executive
Director. Please see “Executive Directors” section for Mr. WH Chua’s
quallifications and experience.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRERBE

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential for
efficient and effective management of our business to safeguard the
interest of our stakeholders and achieve the highest return for our
Shareholders. The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the CG
Code. The Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the CG Code during the Relevant Year, to ensure that the
Group’s business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner, save for the deviation from
Code Provision A.2.1 as stipulated below.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. LS Chua is the Chairman of
our Board and also the chief executive officer of our Company. Since
February 1990, Mr. LS Chua has been the key leadership figure of
our Group who has been primarily involved in the formulation of
business strategies and determination of the overall direction of our
Group. He is also responsible for overseeing our Group’s operations
and directly supervises our senior management. Having considered
that (i) Mr. LS Chua’s contribution and familiarity with the operations
of our Group which is beneficial to the management and business
development of our Group, (ii) major decisions are made in
consultation with members of the Board and relevant Board
committees, and (iii) there are three independent non-executive
Directors on our Board offering independent perspectives, our Board
is of the view that there is an appropriate balance of powers and
authorities between our Board and the management of our Company
and that it is in the interest of our Group to have Mr. LS Chua to
continue taking up both roles. Our Board will continue to review and
consider separation of the roles of the Chairman and the chief
executive officer as and when appropriate by taking into account the
circumstances of our Group as a whole.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARBE

COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Required Standard of Dealings.
Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings during the Relevant Year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to maintain a clear delineation of the businesses between our
Group and our Controlling Shareholders, the latter have entered into
the Deed of Non-competition in favour of our Company (for ourselves
and as trustee for each of our subsidiaries from time to time) to the
effect that each of them will not, and will procure each of their
respective close associates not to, directly or indirectly participate in,
or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved in any business
which may be in competition with our businesses.

For details of the Deed of Non-competition, please refer to the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders — Deed of
Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders that they have complied with the terms of the Deed of
Non-Competition during the Relevant Year. The independent non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the status of compliance and
written confirmation from the Controlling Shareholders, and noted
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied with by each of the Controlling Shareholders during
the Relevant Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRERBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the
Board which assumes the responsibility of leadership and control of
the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Group by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

The Board formulates strategies and sets directions for the Group’s
activities to develop its business and enhance Shareholders’ value.
The Board also assumes the responsibilities for maintaining high
standard of corporate governance, including among others, reviewing
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, and
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board has established the Board Committees with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with the Committees’
authority and duties. Details of the respective Committees’ terms of
reference are available at the respective websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board for significant
transactions.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised seven
Directors of which four are executive Directors and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board
is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chua Liang Sie (Chairman)

Ms. Chua Joo Gek

Mr. Chua Liang Chui

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie

Mr. Tog Chek Soon

Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report.

The family relationship between the Directors (where applicable) are
set out under the respective names of the Directors in the section
headed “Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms” of this annual
report. Save for such relationship disclosed in the section headed
“Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms” of this annual report,
there is no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the members of the Board.

Throughout the Relevant Year and to the date of this report, the
Board at all times met the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, accounting for at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Board
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent and meet the requirements set out in Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

Roles and Responsibility of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group,
which includes controlling resources allocation within the Group and
leading the Group to strive for success. It oversees the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management
and performances.

The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board
to the management include (1) the preparation of quarterly, interim
and annual reports and announcements for the Board’s approval
before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures; and (3) compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Roles and Responsibility of the Board (Continued)

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s
circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place
to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

Board/Board Committee Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Company, and to
review and approve the Company’s quarterly, interim and annual
results. Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14
days’ notice is given for a regular Board meeting. All Directors are
given an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda.
The Joint Company Secretaries assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for meetings to comply with all applicable rules and
regulations. The agenda and the accompanying board papers are
normally sent to Directors at least three days before the intended date
of a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are
circulated to Directors for their comment before being tabled at the
next Board meeting for approval. The minutes are kept by the Joint
Company Secretaries and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) BEEgwm

Attendance Records of Directors and Committee BEERLZEENELFERLE
Members

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Committee MNAEBFEASTEEHFEETGNTEGERN
meetings and at the AGM during the Relevant Year are as follows: MR AF RGN T

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
HE/ AERERERNAR

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Director Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
= EEg ENZES FMEEE REZEE RRAFAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chua Liang Sie ERBLL 44 NATER 11 11 11
Ms. Chua Joo Gek ERMELL 44 NATER NATER  NATER 1/1
Mr. Chua Liang Chui BRPpELE 44 NATER NATER  NATER 11
Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao) Z30)& 5 4 44 NATBERE NATER  NATER 11
Independent non-executive BUKHTES

Directors
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie ENREE 4/4 4/4 11 11 11
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia BREnt 4/4 4/4 NATER  NATEA i
Mr. Tan Heng Thye (resigned Tan Heng Thye £ 4

with effect from 27.11.2020) (52020 11 A 27 HEHT) 4/4 4/4 11 1/1 11
Mr. Tog Chek Soon (appointed MEEIE% A

with effect from 27.11.2020) (8202011 A27HiREZR(E) NATER NATER N/AiE N/AiE R N/AT i F

Total meeting(s) held during the REBFERNETH
Relevant Year EE Tt 4 4 1 1 1
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The executive Directors have entered into service agreements with
the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing sent by either party to the other.
Each of the independent non-executive Directors has accepted his
appointment with the Company with an initial term of three years
commencing on the respective dates of their appointment subject to
termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant
letters of appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association and the
nomination policy of the Company. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors based on the nomination policy and Board diversity
policy. Details of the Company’s nomination policy is set out in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” of this report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board as an essential element to improving governance and
performance, and to creating a competitive advantage. In designing
the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments are made
on merit, in the context of the skills, experience, independence and
knowledge which the Board as a whole requires to be effective.

Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional
Development

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing
Rules, other legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s
business and governance policies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional
Development (Continued)

Directors are aware of Code Provision A.6.5 regarding continuing
professional development programme for directors. Every director is
required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a Director and of
the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

During the Relevant Year, all the Directors (including resigned
Director), namely Mr. LS Chua, Ms. Chua, Mr. LC Chua, Mr. WH
Chua, Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie, Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia and
Mr. Tan Heng Thye (resigned with effect from 27.11.2020) have
continued their professional development by attending conferences
and/or internal training as regards corporate governance, laws,
regulations and the GEM Listing Rules, and/or reading materials in
the above areas and materials relevant to their duties, responsibilities
and the Group’s business in order to develop, refresh and update
their knowledge and skills.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three Board Committees. Each Committee
has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
Committee members are empowered to make decisions on matters
within their respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

We have established an Audit Committee on 21.3.2018 in compliance
with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of our
Audit Committee include (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) reviewing
and supervising the financial statements and material advice in
respect of financial reporting; (iii) overseeing internal control
procedures and corporate governance of our Company; and (iv)
supervising internal control and risk management systems of our
Group. At the end of the Relevant Year, the Audit Committee consists
of three members comprising all independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tan Heng Thye, Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie
and Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia (chairlady of Audit Committee).
Subsequent to the end of the Relevant Period, Mr. Tan Heng Thye
resigned with effect from 27.11.2020. Mr. Tog Chek Soon, an
independent non-executive Director, was appointed with effect from
27.11.2020.
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CRERBE

AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)
The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Relevant Year. A
summary of the work of the Audit Committee during the Relevant

Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group;

reviewed the financial statements, quarterly, interim and annual
reports as well as significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them;

(i) reviewed and monitored the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity, and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards, and (ii)
discussed with the independent auditor before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
reporting obligation;

reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company and its subsidiaries; and

provided recommendations to the Board for the proposal for
reappointment of the independent auditor of the Company and
approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor.

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit

Committee regarding the re-appointment of the independent auditor.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in
the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee
Members” of this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

We have established a Remuneration Committee on 21.3.2018 in
compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of our Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing and
making recommendations to our Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of our Group; (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; (iii) reviewing other remuneration-related matters,
including benefits-in-kind and other compensation payable to our
Directors and senior management; and (iv) reviewing performance
based remunerations and establishing a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policies. At the end of the
Relevant Year, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members comprising an executive Director Mr. LS Chua and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tan Heng Thye and
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie (chairman of Remuneration Committee).
Subsequent to the end of the Relevant Period, Mr. Tan Heng Thye
resigned with effect from 27.11.2020. Mr. Tog Chek Soon, an
independent non-executive Director, was appointed with effect from
27.11.2020.

The Group’s remuneration policy is structured to attract and retain
high quality staff and to enable smooth operation. The Group offered
competitive remuneration packages which considered factors such
as corporate result, individual capability and performance, salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions. The remuneration packages are subject
to review on a regular basis.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
eligible persons, details are set out under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this annual report.

During the Relevant Year, the Remuneration Committee held a
meeting to review, among others, assess the performance and
remuneration package of the executive Directors and senior
management.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management
depends on their employment contracts and includes basic salary
and performance bonus. Pursuant to paragraph B.1.5 of the CG
Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management
by band for the Relevant Year is set out below:

48 71

Remuneration band

FHMEEE W)
ERERERBNHWIARELBEAL LB
BERRTEAREREL - RECEEATAE
BASE  REBEERFMARND 2 SRE
BESMERIOT :

Number of individuals A &

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 71,000,000 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 77T £ 1,500,000 7% 7T 1
The remuneration payable to the Directors depends on their BNEZHIEUARERE S HOKEZ TR GEE

respective contractual terms under the service contracts or the
appointment letters (as the case may be), and as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, taking into account the Group’s
operating results, market competitiveness, individual performance
and achievement. Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the
Relevant Year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
set out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” of this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

We have established a Nomination Committee on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of the
CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board on
a regular basis; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (jii) assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; (iv) make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors; and (v) make recommendations to our Board regarding the
candidates to fill vacancies on our Board. At the end of the Relevant
Year, the Nomination Committee consists of three members
comprising an executive Director Mr. LS Chua (chairman of
Nomination Committee) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tan Heng Thye and Mr. Ng Boon Cheow
Freddie. Subsequent to the end of the Relevant Period, Mr. Tan Heng
Thye resigned with effect from 27.11.2020. Mr. Tog Chek Soon, an
independent non-executive Director, was appointed with effect from
27.11.2020.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the Relevant Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting
to review, among others, the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board in accordance with the Board diversity policy
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors based on the nomination policy and
succession planning for Directors; and assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and concluded that
members of the Board possessed the expertise and independence to
carry out the Board’s functions and responsibilities.

The Company adopted a nomination policy in compliance with the
CG Code, which establishes written guidelines to the Nomination
Committee to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the
formulated criteria stated below:

o Reputation and integrity of the candidate;
° Accomplishment and experience;
° Commitment in terms of time and interest;

° Gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

° Potential contribution to board diversity;

° Independence with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the GEM Listing Rules if the candidate is nominated
as an independent non-executive Director; and

° Number of directorships in other listed/public companies if the
candidate is nominated as an independent non-executive
Director.

30  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2020

REZEE W)

REBFE  REEEBERTNEH  RigE
EERBS T HEEN (Hh el g8 A
B e ARESTL RRREARERE
FRAHARESNE IR ENEMCANEF SR
Wi REIEBYIEMTESNBI - B8
RAEFEREAANTESERARBENY
EEB B o

ARAFEREEERTRRMEZEER - RIESR
ZEgHEEmES UWWEAERLEESRS
X
#

m m
% |

\

(ERBBAL  UBZUTCAREREER
HEEEMATMESESREES

o REANBENWE:

o ARELANEER

o BRAWBREEME

o MR FER - XEHNHEER
FRER - e ME MR

Bk &

s HEFRSZI(CWEERR:

o (MIREABRERBIFNTES)ZE
GEM 717 % Bl A 008 32 1 2E RIS 1
&

o (MIREABRERZRRBIIFNTESR)NE
b B/ ARRREEEENRE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRERBE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued) REZEES W)

Below are the nomination procedure and process: T AREERFRARE

o The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and e BELIFTEESWTE 5 RE  Bg

appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall PEARNEFEZAEEERERZES R
be assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and EFgRBERELAREZTENEZ L
the Board against the selection criteria and the Board Diversity BURAHE RE &

Policy.

. In the appointment of a proposed Director, the Nomination REFRTESZNS  RELZEQREBE

Committee shall evaluate the candidate’s eligibility based on the R ER SRR AMER - HFREZ4H
selection criteria. If multiple candidates are involved, the REAN REZESEREAAANTEE
Nomination Committee shall prioritize them according to the RIREAZ BNEBHIMELRT -

Company’s needs and the candidates’ respective qualification.

. In the re-appointment of a Director at the forthcoming annual e BRAABEERERAFAG LEHET

general meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee EEME  REZECRBHNESNER
shall review the overall contributions of the Director, such as the e PIMESREZTENRY - 2015
Director’s service, participation and performance in the Board, MARERER  UREEREMATETEE
and whether the Director still meets the selection criteria. Al o

The Board will review the policy from time to time. BRI REREE -

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set EREE@KWMEHFLH T IBENHNARNRE =
out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and ZREE&KEHFEFE L] —6 -
Committee Members” of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION EERBEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for developing and putting in  BZEZE@AEREET MR EIEENEII L
place policies and practices to ensure compliance with the provisions EHE¥%ERE « B EE R ERERSHIEL ZiE
of the CG Code, for the training and continuous professional  ER N &R @ EREBTOEEATENEX -
development of the Directors and senior management, for the

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

During the Relevant Year, the Board has through the Audit Committee HREBFERN EFEABITH
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate EEBEZEESETHARTN
governance as well as the corporate governance report contained in - ®#3 + LA RARFIHRETEH A1
this annual report in the discharge of its corporate governance  <FGEM Em#R8] »

functions, ensuring compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that (i)
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
(i) judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable; and
(iii) statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards have
been adopted and complied with.

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Directors confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Directors have prepared the financial statements for the Relevant
Year on a going-concern basis. The financial statements for the
Relevant Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the independent auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP (“FKT”). A
statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibility is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’'s
Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The Company has an established risk framework under which it
identifies risks relevant to the operations and activities of the Group,
and assesses these risks in relation to their likelihood and potential
impacts. The Group’s internal control system includes a well-defined
management structure with limits of authority, which is designed to
achieve business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, ensure proper maintenance of books and records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
publication, and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and
regulations. Such systems are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and aims
to provide a reasonable, as opposed to an absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and geography of
the business of the Group, it would be cost effective to appoint a firm
of external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Accordingly, the Board engaged a firm of external independent
professional to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems which covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls as
well as risk management functions during the Relevant Year.
However, the assessment was not carried out because the schedule
coincided with Circuit Breaker and Safe Management Measures.
Having received assurance from the Chief Financial Officer that during
the Relevant Year, there were no significant changes to the
established risk management and internal control systems, the Board
is satisfied with the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing Rules as well as
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong in
June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the joint company secretaries
of the Company and investor relations officers are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
FKT was re-appointed as the independent auditor of the Company
with effect from 7.2.2020 to hold office until the conclusion of the
next AGM.

For the Relevant Year, FKT received $35,000 (2019: $35,000) for
audit service and $3,000 (2019: $3,000) for non-audit service in
connection with tax advisory service.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Choy Tuck Leong (“Mr. Choy”) and Ms. Cheng Lucy (“Ms.
Cheng”) are the Joint Company Secretaries as appointed pursuant to
Rule 5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules. The biographical details of Mr.
Choy is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile” of this annual report.

Ms. Cheng has been nominated by BOARDROOM CORPORATE
SERVICES (HK) LIMITED (“Boardroom”) under an engagement letter
made between the Company and Boardroom. The primary person at
the Company with whom Ms. Cheng has been contacting in respect
of company secretarial matters is Mr. Choy, the Chief Financial Officer
and a Joint Company Secretary.

The Joint Company Secretaries support the Board by ensuring timely
information flow to and within the Board, and monitoring adherence
to Board policies and procedures, including the training and
continuous professional development of Directors. They also guide
the Board on corporate governance matters and facilitate the
induction of new Directors. The Joint Company Secretaries have
attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the
Relevant Year.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with Shareholders and investors mainly
in the following ways:

(i) convening general meetings at least once a financial year
whereby Shareholders and investors could communicate
directly with the Board;

(i) publishing quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements
and/or circulars as required under the GEM Listing Rules and/
or press releases to provide updated information on the Group;
and

(i) updating the Company’s website with the latest information on
the Group.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a
written requisition requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the
purpose(s) of the extraordinary general meeting, and (ii) must be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the registered office of
the Company for attention of the Company Secretary of the
Company, and may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by one or more requisitionist(s). Such requisitions will be
verified with the Company’s branch share registrar and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting by serving sufficient notice to all shareholders. On the
contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order, the
requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the
extraordinary general meeting will not be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionist(s) or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene an
extraordinary general meeting, but any extraordinary general meeting
so convened shall not be held after expiration of two months from the
said date of deposit of the requisition. An extraordinary general
meeting convened by the requisitionist(s) shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General Meeting
To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal with
his/her detailed contact information at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Board will be asked to include the proposal in the
agenda for the general meeting.

Right to Make Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written form,
to the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at 31/F.,
148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong. Shareholders may also
make enquiries to the Board at the general meeting of the Company.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Boardroom Share Registrars
(HK) Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong
Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and
entitlements to dividend.

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the
Shareholders to be its goal. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, inter alia:

° the general financial condition of the Group;

° the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

° the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

° the Shareholders’ and the investors expectation and industry’s
norm;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRERBE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)
Dividend Policy (Continued)
° the general market conditions; and

° any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Declaration of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Memorandum
and Articles of Association and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations (including but not limited to the GEM Listing Rules).

The Board will review the policy from time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Relevant Year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents. The Articles of Association are available on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining effective communication with
the investment industry is crucial to having a deeper understanding of
the Company’s business and its development among investors. To
achieve this goal and increase transparency, the Company will
continue to adopt proactive measures to foster better investor
relations and communications. As such, the purpose for the
Company to formulate investor relations policies is to let investors
have access to the information of the Group in a fair and timely
manner, so that they can make an informed decision.

We welcome investors to write to the Company or send their enquiries
to the Company’s email of investor_relation@sunlightpaper.com.sg to
share their opinions with the Board. The Company’s website also
discloses the latest business information of the Group to investors
and the public.
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EERE

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
consolidated financial statements for FY2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in the supply of tissue products to
corporate customers in Singapore. Further discussion and analysis of
these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance, including a performance analysis using financial key
performance indicators and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business, can be found in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Details
of the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group are set out in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements. These form part of this
report.

During the Relevant Year, the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it. The Board has not identified any material
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
Relevant Year.

The Group is committed to nurturing its staff to care about and
protect the environment. It conducts its business in a manner that
balances the environment and economic needs. The Group complies
with all relevant environment regulations. It works with its partners
including customers and suppliers in a concerted effort to operate in
an environmentally responsible manner by making concerted efforts
to be energy-efficient and to practise “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”.

Among others, the Group has taken the following initiatives:
° recycles printed paper and production tissue paper; and

° installation of low-energy LED lighting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERSE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance
will be disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report
of the Company for the Relevant Year to be published in due course
in the manner required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development and therefore we
obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly. This
communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best
way to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development. Across the supply chain, we
have taken steps throughout the Relevant Year to ensure that we
operate responsibly and in the interests of our customers, workforce,
suppliers and other stakeholders.

Our employees are valuable assets and our success is underpinned
by our people. We provide attractive remuneration packages, and a
fair and harmonious working environment to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of our employees. Our human resource policies
outline our compensation, working hours, rest periods and other
benefits and welfare, which comply with laws and regulations. We
attract qualified applicants by offering competitive remuneration
packages based on prevailing market conditions. None of the
Group’s employees is represented by any collective bargaining
agreement or labour union. The Group has not experienced any
significant problem with its employees or disruption to its operations
due to labour dispute, nor has the Group experienced any difficulties
in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff. We endeavour
to create a workplace based on respect for human rights and where
our employees are free to practise their beliefs and preferences.

During the Relevant Year, the Group maintained good relationship
with its customers and generally maintained a high retention rate with
the existing customers to keep abreast of market development and
potential business opportunities.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

The Group has maintained stable and long-established business
relationships with its major suppliers. We do not foresee any difficulty
in procurement nor experienced any production disruption.

We endeavour to support the communities in which we operate by
understanding their needs. We focus on the hygiene aspects of
charitable organisations in our community.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Relevant Year is as follows:
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Percentage of the Group’s total

HEEEAHES L
Sales Purchases
HE BE
The largest customer BAEP 11.1%
Five largest customers in aggregate AARBP&E 34.6%
The largest supplier BRAEER 24.8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAEERAET 83.5%

At no time during the Relevant Year have the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Relevant Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in Shares during the Relevant Year are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did not redeem
any of its listed securities nor did the Company or any of its
subsidiaries purchase, or sell any of such securities during the
Relevant Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERSE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At the end of the Relevant Year, the reserves of the Company
available for distribution, as calculated under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, was $8.5 million (2019: $8.1 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Relevant Year are set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors and changes to their information, if any, during the
Relevant Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Chua Liang Sie (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chua Joo Gek

Chua Liang Chui

Chua Wenhao (alias Cai \WWenhao)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ng Boon Cheow, Freddie

Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia

Tog Chek Soon (appointed on 27.11.2020)

Tan Heng Thye (resigned on 27.11.2020)

Pursuant to the Articles, Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC Chua and Mr. Tog
Chek Soon shall retire from office at the forthcoming AGM and, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

Changes in information of Directors

Directors Details of Changes

Mr. Tog Chek Soon Appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee on
27.11.2020

Mr. Tan Heng Thye Resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee on
27.11.2020
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing on the
Listing Date and will continue thereafter until terminated in
accordance with the terms of the service agreement. Independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three years from
their respective dates of appointment and will continue thereafter
unless terminated by either party giving at least three months’ notice
in writing.

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election has a service
contract with the Company not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the Relevant Year, so far as the Directors are aware, none of
the Directors and Controlling Shareholders, neither themselves nor
their respective close associates, had held any position or had
interests in any businesses or companies that were materially
competing or might materially compete with the business of the
Group, or gave rise to any concern regarding conflict of interest.

ACHIEVEMENT OF USE OF PROCEEDS AND
BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

Details on the use of proceeds and the comparison of business
objective with actual business progress are discussed in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERSE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERFETHRAERARATNAE
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE {AtHEEZE MR G - HER GO R E
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND BENEER KRR

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at the end of the Relevant Year, interests or short positions of the REBEEXR » RAREZ N TBITHAERK
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, AR KE(FMABE=E (FH R BEH LIS &
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its XV EF) WAk p - MR M L EREET  #AD
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as ~ fR8ER BB B4 M B S 6 HI 5 352 (5T ATF B &
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the 21 - 4R 5 GEM 1 # B 55 5.46 & 5.67 1§ 41
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock @R QFREZFAIESSAENT ¢
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules,

were as follows:

() Long positions in the Shares: i) RERHBTFE :
Number of
underlying Percentage of
Number of Sharesheld  Total number the total
Shares held under equity of Shares  issued Shares
Name Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) derivatives interested (%)
MRALTE HERTRHG
FEROHE  IEMBER BREERN BEAM
B#E 5% REME (M&E1) ROBE RAEEH (%)
Mr. Chua Liang Sie (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 576,000,000 (L) - 576,000,000 72
BRELE(IH2) to buy shares described in ARER

s.317(1)(a) of the SFO
B5 LAEHRDIE317(1)(@)
FrtBRpEN—BTIAL

Ms. Chua Joo Gek (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 576,000,000 (L) - 576,000,000 72
BRE 2+ (W2) to buy shares described in ARER

$.317(1)(a) of the SFO
B5 LAEHRIE317(1)(@)
FrtBRpEN—BTIAL

Mr. Chua Liang Chui (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 576,000,000 (L) - 576,000,000 72
BR PR (HE2) to buy shares described in ARER

$.317(1)(a) of the SFO
F5 LAEHRDIE317(1)(@)
FrtBRpEN—BTIAL
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EERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

BEENFETHRAERADTRE
MEBEZENRS  HBERORE
RIENEER HHKE @

(i) Long position in the shares of YJH Group (i) YJH Group Limited (A~ 5148
Limited — an associated corporation of the BOEE) BRI B A
Company
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the total
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests shares held issued shares
HERITRG
B
REEHE B4 REmtE RO #E BMAOBE D
Mr. Chua Liang Sie Beneficial owner/Personal interest 380,000 65.52%
EREBLL EnfEB A EAER
Ms. Chua Joo Gek Beneficial owner/Personal interest 100,000 17.24%
EmELL Ena A EAAERE
Mr. Chua Liang Chui Beneficial owner/Personal interest 100,000 17.24%
BRPIE Ena A EAAERE
Notes: FisE
1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FEILIBZALTRZEROO (172 (F&R
XV of the SFO) in such Shares. BHLEAEBKRIIZEXVER)
2. YJH Group Limited is owned as to approximately 65.52% by Mr. Chua 2. YJH Group Limited REER B %4 - E@ME LT R

Liang Sie, 17.24% by Ms. Chua Joo Gek and 17.24% by Mr. Chua
Liang Chui. Mr. Chua Liang Sie, Ms. Chua Joo Gek and Mr. Chua Liang
Chui were signatories of a concert parties agreement dated 11.10.2017.
As such, they were deemed as controlling YJH Group Limited as a
group and were deemed to have interests in the Shares held by YJH
Group Limited, respectively. For details, see “History, Reorganisation
and Corporate Structure — Concert parties arrangement” in the
Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Relevant Year, none of
the Directors nor chief executive of the Company had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERSE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme, the details of
which are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
No share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption. Therefore, no options were exercised or cancelled
or lapsed during the Relevant Year and there were no outstanding
options under the Share Option Scheme as at the end of the Relevant
Year. The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate
exceed 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save for the Share Option Scheme, at no time from the Listing Date
to the date of this report were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the end of the Relevant Year, other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company, the following persons/entities have an
interest or a short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares as
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

BERETE

RARBRA—BERERESE - AFBEHNEGE
ISRz TR 21 o B ERABEARIE ST 81 DAPR - 4
BHERE Bl REBFERN - BEERE
BATE SRR SR - MR BRAFEAR - B
FTEITE TR M RIT R RE AR A - *E%F,Eﬁﬂﬁfé?r
ZI R EMERENRG EBATTISBHB
80,000,000 f% 1£7T'<¢¢&E|H}%E%Tﬂxf\i@§m
10% °

EEB ARG HER

BB BISN - ADRR L EREEERH
EEMEANEERETIMESIRSEAN
RLABS 18 A T T X ATHEME AR A R o 78

SmERAERN EE?BZ%?)TEGEEHEZ%%
M- HADE] - EERABKEEAMNER

EESI=PNGIY)E:H ala&ﬁ;z?#ﬁ(ﬁ%%ﬂﬁ%)\
T EMEAB BRI FHER o

FERRRROREBERGNVERS
RSB

REBFER RARAREERIZTHAE
Sh - AT AL/ EBRBRG SRR M h AR
BRIREE %&Hﬂ*bﬁﬁ |55 336 IRARRABTIF
EMECMaERIOLR

Long position in the Shares: R EaF B
Number of
underlying
Number of Shares held Total number Percentage of
Shares held under equity of Shares  the total issued
Name Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) derivatives interested Shares (%)
URALTE BRTRHG
iigsdi g ¢! IEfEHE RRERN AEAN
i 5% ERME (M&E1) RHOBE REOEH (%)
YJH Group Limited (Note 2) ~ Beneficial owner Personal interest 576,000,000 (L) - 576,000,000 72

YJH Group Limited (Hfi£2) ~ EHHAA BV
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

2. YJH Group Limited is owned as to approximately 65.52% by Mr. Chua
Liang Sie, 17.24% by Ms. Chua Joo Gek and 17.24% by Mr. Chua
Liang Chui. Mr. Chua Liang Sie, Ms. Chua Joo Gek and Mr. Chua Liang
Chui were signatories of a concert parties agreement dated 11.10.2017.
As such, they were deemed as controlling YJH Group Limited as a
group and were deemed to have interests in the Shares held by YJH
Group Limited, respectively. For details, see “History, Reorganisation
and Corporate Structure — Concert parties arrangement” in the
Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Relevant Year and so
far as known to the Directors, no person/entity, other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Position in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above,
had notified the Company of an interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares which had been required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant section
336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

At the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
GEM Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has in place appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The relevant provisions of the Articles and the insurance
coverage are currently in force and were in force throughout the
Relevant Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERSE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than a contract of service with any Director or any
person under the full employment of the Company, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the Relevant Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements (i) will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares; or (ii) require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Group during the Relevant Year or existed
as at the end of the Relevant Year.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to which either the Company or any of its subsidiaries
were a party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the Relevant Year or at any time during the Relevant Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which any Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Relevant Year or at any time during the Relevant Year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEEEHN
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee is set up by the Board to formulate a
remuneration policy for approval by the Board, which will take into
consideration factors such as corporate result, individual capability
and performance, salaries paid by comparable companies,
employment conditions, time commitment and responsibilities, and
individual performance of the Directors, senior management and the
general staff of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an incentive
to eligible participants.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or
exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to
consult their professional advisers.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group at the
end of the Relevant Year are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Summary of Financial Information”
in this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group contributes to a defined contribution plan. The details are
set out under the sub-section headed “Employee benefits” in note
2(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Relevant Year, there was no connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements.

During the Relevant Year, there were no related party transactions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report, the Company had complied with the CG Code during the
Relevant Year. Details of the principal corporate governance practices
of our Group are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias
Cai Wenhao) whose biographical details are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report. The Joint Company Secretaries are Mr. Choy Tuck Leong
(who is also the Company’s chief financial officer and his biographical
details are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile” of this annual report) and Ms. Cheng Lucy, an
Associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known
as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the
United Kingdom.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at the end of the Relevant Year, as notified by the Company’s
compliance adviser, Giraffe Capital Limited (the “Compliance Adviser”)
except for the compliance adviser agreement entered into between
the Company and the Compliance Adviser dated 9.11.2017, neither
the Compliance Adviser nor any of its directors, employees or close
associates had any interest in the Company or any member of the
Group (including interest in the securities of the Company or any
member of the Group, and options or rights to subscribe for such
securities) during the Relevant Year, which is required to be notified to
the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by FKT who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward looking statements with respect to the
financial conditions, results of operations and business of the Group.
These forward looking statements represent the Company’s
expectations or beliefs concerning future events and involve known
and unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual results,
performance or events to differ materially from those expressed or
implied in such statements.

On behalf of the Board
Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Chua Liang Sie

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Singapore, 11.12.2020

50  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2020

B M % BT
B TR E o FRT B 1%+ FIT 650 8 IR 3 4
AR - BHAEHRERET -

AT B P BR A

AREFERRAREI TR - SEREARE
T2 BIREMERR AL » 2 5 ATIE BRI B AN R A1 R
REM B ER W RE MRz AR
NABARE - %5 R LA E AT e
ERESE  RARFHERZFRLARDARE
RERETR -

RKEEES

X (1977) ZRBR AT
HITEE  TERITEABE
ERE

¥k > 202012 A11 8



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R TR

To the members of Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sunlight
(1977) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 58 to 144, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September
2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30 September 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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B RHERE

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

R EIZ=TE
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statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRELEE

Our responses and work performed

EEWERRTETHIE

Revaluation of building on leasehold land
HELTHEFER

The Group carries its building on leasehold land at fair
value, with the change in fair value being recognised in
other comprehensive income. The Group engages a
firm of independent professional valuation experts to
assess the fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The fair value of the building on leasehold land
is determined by the independent professional valuer
using recognised valuation techniques. The technique
applied is the market approach, by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market. Significant judgement and estimates
are required in the valuation technique and inputs used
to determine the fair value of the building on leasehold
land.
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Our procedures in relation to the revaluation of building on

leasehold land included:

Assessing the methodologies and appropriateness of
the key assumptions used by the management’s expert;
Understanding and reviewing the assumptions in the
input data from the management’s expert through
discussions, comparisons to industry peers and
independent external data sources and where available
to agreement with supporting documentation and
historical trends; and

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the management’s expert.
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B R B R E

Key audit matter

BRELEE

Our responses and work performed

EEWEERTETHIE

Revaluation of building on leasehold land
HELEFER

Fair value encompasses estimating the expected selling
prices of the underlying assets by identifying the
comparable assets and determining the current market
selling prices of these assets. Input inaccuracies or
inappropriate bases used to determine the level of
impairment, including the comparable assets used in
the fair value measurements, could result in material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements.

ATEBREBREMNTENBREERBEEREEENE
RIS EERMGFHREENTENEE - ARETRE
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it o

The valuation techniques and inputs to the revaluation
of building on leasehold land are disclosed in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EMBEE T BT AR ERN LS A BB ERER
BB HRMIES -

We involved auditor’s expert to assist us in the above. We
evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
auditor’s expert, and the adequacy of the work performed by
the experts.

We also considered the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements, describing the
methodologies used, degree of subjectivity and key
assumptions used in the estimates.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R TR

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R TR

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chin Sin Beng.

Foo Kon Tan LLP

A principal member firm of HLB International
Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

11.12.2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE BRI R

as at 30.9.2020
202049 A30H
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
Note $’000 $000
BIsE Fx T
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MR E 3 10,770 8,067
Right-of-use asset EREEE 4 268 -
Software licence BT 20 31
Prepaid land premium TEfT A E 413 459
11,471 8,557
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories FE 5 6,552 524
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk H b fE W 38 6 4,131 3,012
Prepayments TafRE 130 135
Cash and cash equivalents B RAESEEY 7 3,948 7,028
14,761 10,699
Total assets EEHAE 26,232 19,256
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Capital and Reserves R R A
Share capital &N 8 1,338 1,338
Reserves #HE 9 14,350 13,812
Total equity attributable to owners 7~ B]#EH A E(L R 458
of the Company 15,688 15,150
Non-Current Liabilities FERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EETIBEEE 10 1,203 1,117
Borrowings &3k 11 114 217
Lease liability HEBE 12 247 -
1,564 1,334
Current Liabilities REEE
Borrowings N 11 7,103 100
Lease liability HEBE 12 26 -
Trade and other payables B 5 N HE bR FoE 13 1,671 2,514
Current tax payable BEATR IR B & 180 158
8,980 2,772
Total liabilities EERE 10,544 4,106
Total equity and liabilities ERRAERAE 26,232 19,256

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

— = 32 a2z
meEakEMEEmKER
for FY2020
2020 M E
2020 2019
2020 20194
Note $°000 $'000
i3 T T
Revenue g 14 13,227 15,468
Cost of sales SHE AR (10,116) (11,958)
Gross profit ER 3,111 3,510
Other income H AU A 15 574 176
Selling and distribution expenses $HE R HR X (1,492) (1,487)
Administrative expenses TR (1,579) (1,569)
Finance costs BRE A A 16 (19) (12)
Profit before taxation B %t A 52 Al 17 595 618
Taxation 18 19 (198) (208)
Profit for the year FREF 397 410
Other comprehensive income MR EHEMEmEKE -
after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified HEBTESEHIER
subsequently to profit or loss BEWIEE
Revaluation of building on leasehold EHEAE T EF
land 170 507
Related tax el ki (29) (64)
Other comprehensive income for FRHAZEWE (BRBE)
the year, net of tax 141 443
Total comprehensive income AAREEAEEFAZE
for the year attributable to W ss 58
owners of the Company 538 853
Earnings per share AAREEAELER
attributable to owners of the E R (Fr i)
Company (Singapore cent)
— Basic and diluted — AEANEE 20 0.05 0.05

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in  BEMI 4B 2 SIS MR B — 3B » WA EZ
conjunction with these financial statements. LR —OHBIE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEZBER

for FY2020
2020 A E
Attributable to owners of the Company
RARERAER
Share Share Merger Revaluation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve  earnings equity
Bx  RGEE  AHREE  EMRE  REBRN  ERAE
$000 $:000 $:000 $:000 $:000 $:000
S Fr aw S r Fr
Balance at 1.10.2018 R2018 5101 H 2 &8k 1,338 6,221 580 4,711 1,447 14,297
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 40 40
Other comprehensive income for FREMZERE
the year
— Revaluation of building on - ERRETHET
leasehold land - - - 443 - 443
Total comprehensive income FREANRAE
for the year - - - 443 410 853
Balance at 30.9.2019 1201959 A 30 B 2 & 1,338 6,221 580 5,154 1,857 15,150
Balance at 1.10.2019 2019510 A1 H 2 &8 1,338 6,221 580 5,154 1,857 15,150
Profit for the year FREH - - - - 397 397
Other comprehensive income FREEEKE
for the year
— Revaluation of building on - EHRELIET
leasehold land - - - 14 - 14
Total comprehensive income ERZAKGAE
for the year - - - 14 397 538
Balance at 30.9.2020 2020 9 A 30 B 2 84 1,338 6,221 580 5,205 2,254 15,688

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

for FY2020
2020 BAUAF 2
2020 2019
2020 20194
Note $°000 $°000
Bt eE Fr T
Cash Flows from Operating Activities RERXELIBHNESHE
Profit before taxation B T4 i 595 618
Adjustments for: BATSBEL A
Amortisation of software licence B R R 5 11 -
Amortisation of prepaid land premium  TE1F 1 H (S 58 44 46 -
Depreciation of property, ME - BB REEITE
plant and equipment 3 299 323
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 4 28 -
Gain on disposal of property, LEME  BERLERE
plant and equipment 15 - (5)
Interest expense FBFX 16 19 12
Interest income FEIA 15 (36) (82)
Operating profit before working EEESEBHILERERN
capital changes 962 866
Changes in inventories TEE (6,028) 474
Changes in trade and other receivables & 5 & H b fig U 718 & (1,119) (526)
Change in prepayments TR FRIEE 5 8
Changes in borrowings fERE 7,000 -
Changes in trade and other payables BHREMENTBEE (843) 82
Cash (used in)/generated from TEEK(FR) /i8R
operations (23) 904
Income taxes paid BENEEH (119) (163)
Net cash (used in)/generated from K (A FEREFE
operating activities (142) 741
Cash Flows from Investing Activities HRERETHNELSHRE
Interest received B E 36 82
Payment of land premium B R - (633)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BENRREMERIE
plant and equipment - 61
Purchase of property, BEME  BEMEE
plant and equipment 3 (2,832) (835)
Purchase of software licence BB TR - (31)
Net cash used in investing activities R &EB AR S TEE (2,796) (1,256)

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in  BEMI M SRS S B FSIRA R — 2010 - LABEZ
conjunction with these financial statements. EB & — ORI -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
HERERER®

for FY2020
2020 A E
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
Note $°000 $°000
Bt eE Fr T
Cash Flows from Financing Activities RERETENEERE
Interest paid BEAFE (19) (12)
Repayment of borrowings BIEER (100) (113)
Repayment of lease liability principal EEHEaGEZASHY
portion (23) -
Net cash used in BMETEHMARESFE
financing activities (142) (125)
Net decrease in cash and Re kRSB FE
cash equivalents (3,080) (640)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRE MRS EEY
beginning of year 7,028 7,668
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRIBE NIREZED 7 3,948 7,028

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in  BEMTHT 4K %2 S B AR 0 —2B1H » W/BHIZ
conjunction with these financial statements. LTSI —BIE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continueq)
mERERER®

for FY2020

2020 AL 2

Reconciliation of Movements of Liabilities to Cash Flows Arising from Financing Activities

EESDHREFHMELENRERENHR

Obligations
under finance

leases  Lease liability Bank loan Total
HEHERE HERE RITER @it
$'000 $000 $000 $000
r i r i
Balance at 1.10.2018 R2018F10 A1 A&k 16 - 414 430

Changes from financing cash flows REBERSRENED
— Repayment of borrowings - BEER (16) - (97) (113)
— Interest paid - B8 (1) - (11) (12)
Total changes from financing cash flows REREEEHENSELE (17) - (108) (125)

Other changes Hit2E

— Interest expense - FER% 1 - 11 12
Total liability-related other changes BEAE - BEMRHER 1 - i 12
Balance at 30.9.2019 R201959 A 30 A 248 - - 317 317
Balance at 1.10.2019 R2019F10 A1 A& - - 317 317
Adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 2(b)) REIR B R EERE 165 (M 2p) - 303 - 303
Adjusted balance at 1.10.2019 R2019E10 A1 R 2 ERRER - 303 317 620

Changes from financing cash flows RERMERESRENED
— Repayment of borrowings - BEER - - (100) (100)
— Repayment of lease liability principal portion — EEHEBEZ AL TD - (23 - (23)
— Interest paid - Bifg - (1) 8) (19
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERSRENSELE - (34) (108) (142)

Other changes Hi2g

— Effect of changes in market rental rates ~ — 514 X8 H 92 - U] - U]
— Interest expense - FER% - 11 8 19
Total liability-related other changes BEAE - RENSBEE - 4 8 12
Balance at 30.9.2020 1R202069 30 H 2 &84 - 273 217 490
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE
for FY2020

2020 A E

1

General Information

The consolidated financial statements of Sunlight (1977)
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for FY2020 were authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the directors on 11.12.2020.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 21.9.2017. The Shares
were listed on GEM on 16.4.2018.

The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The head office and principal place of business
in Singapore is located at 11 Tuas South Street 5, Singapore
637590. The principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located at 31/F., 148 Electric Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in the supply of tissue
products to corporate customers in Singapore. The subsidiary
directly and wholly-owned by the Company is SPP Investments,
which is an investment holding company. The subsidiary
indirectly and wholly-owned by the Company (through SPP
Investments) is Sunlight Paper, which is principally engaged in
the supply of tissue products to corporate customers in
Singapore. Details of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 25
to the consolidated financial statements.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is YJH Group, a
company incorporated in BVI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(a) Basis of Preparation 2(a) 25I|FE%E

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with IFRS including related Interpretations
promulgated by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies
below.

The presentation of the consolidated financial statements
includes applicable disclosures required by the GEM Listing
Rules and the Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in SGD
which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial
information is presented in SGD and rounded to the nearest
thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
financial year. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions,
actual results may differ from those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and
in any future periods affected.

The significant accounting estimates and assumptions used
and areas involving a high degree of judgement are described
below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) EHNEE @)
Significant judgements in applying accounting policies FERETBUORENE XA &
Income taxes B

Significant judgement is involved in determining group-wide
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recognised, such differences will affect the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s
deferred tax liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the
Group’s income taxes for the year are disclosed in Note 10 and
Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies

Revaluation of building on leasehold land

At the end of the reporting period, the Group carries its building
on leasehold land at fair value, with the change in fair value
being recognised in other comprehensive income. The Group
has engaged a firm of independent professional valuation
experts to assess the fair value of its building on leasehold land,
which is determined using recognised valuation techniques. The
technique applied is the market approach. The carrying amount
of the building on leasehold land at fair value at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements. The valuation techniques and inputs used
to determine the fair value of the building on leasehold land are
provided in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 25| FEE @)

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
asset

The costs of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
asset are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
economic useful lives of the assets. The Group’s business is
capital intensive and the annual depreciation of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use asset forms a significant
component of total costs charged to profit or loss. Management
estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use asset to be within 3 to 60 years. In particular,
management estimates the useful life of the building on
leasehold land to be 60 years. The useful life of the building on
leasehold land is based on the committed lease term of the
leasehold land. The carrying amount of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use asset at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Notes 3 and 4 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively. The Group
performs annual reviews on whether the assumptions made on
useful lives continue to be valid. As changes in the expected
level of usage, maintenance programmes and technological
developments could impact the economic useful lives and the
residual values of these assets, future depreciation charges
could be revised. If depreciation on the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use asset increases/decreases by
10% from management’s estimates, the Group’s results for the
year will decrease/increase by $30,000 (2019: $32,000) and
$3,000 respectively.

Allowance for inventory obsolescence

The Group reviews the ageing analysis of inventories at the end
of each reporting period, and makes allowance for obsolete and
slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer
suitable for sale. The net realisable values for such inventories
are estimated based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. Possible changes in these estimates
could result in revisions to the valuation of inventories. The
carrying amount of the Group’s inventories at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. If the net realisable values of the
inventories decrease/increase by 10% from management’s
estimates, there will be no impact to the Group’s results for the
year.
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for FY2020

2020 A E

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) EHNEE @)

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At the end of each reporting period, historical
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information relating
to ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note
26(a). If the loss rates increase by 10% from management’s
estimates, the Group’s allowance for impairment of trade
receivables will increase by $162,000 (2019: $257,000).

68  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2020

FEREFBERTANERBRRRET A
& (&)

B WA RRR B RE R
AEBERBBEEFEESRUKIAZ
EMEEER(EHNEREER] - B#EX
DERARBBUBBREA ZZETF N R
BHMARES -

B SE B S A SR ) 2 FE e BT 0K
Bitt o AR E G EAE R AR A AT
PR EEFRER - RERED
K ESLEOEEFER - LD A
st 2 28 -

TR E R B SE AR - TERIAE AR T
HEEEB ANERBREKNGE - &
HEEEBBZERHZ BN RIEALE
MAZEBHTE FAEBZELEEEHE
B RAEIRR BRI R MR ERBEF R A
B BRENEN - BEAEEE ZER
REZEHEEBEEN BEERMKF
26(a) > W 5B R E BB/ T 80
10% BIASEENE ZERKERE
1% 15 1% 1N 162,000 7T (2019 4F : 257,000
7T) e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 25| FEE @)

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Estimation of the incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)

For the purpose of calculating the right-of-use asset and lease
liability, an entity applies the interest rate implicit in the lease
(“IRIIL") and, if the IRIIL is not readily determinable, the entity
shall use its IBR applicable to the lease asset. The IBR is the
rate of interest that the entity would have to pay to borrow over
a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment. For the lease whereby the
Group is the lessee, the IRIIL is not readily determinable.
Therefore, the Group estimate the IBR relevant to the lease
asset by using observable inputs (such as market interest rate
and asset yield) when available, and then making certain lessee
specific adjustments (such as the Group’s credit rating). The
carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use asset and lease
liability are disclosed in Notes 4 and 12, respectively. An
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the estimated IBR will
decrease/increase the Group’s right-of-use asset and lease
liability by approximately $8,000 and $7,000, respectively.

Impact of COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic that has been declared globally and
has not shown any indication of its end. While the Group has
considered the potential financial impact of the COVID-19
pandemic in the preparation of the financial statements, the full
financial impact to the Group remains uncertain. Accordingly,
there is a possibility that factors not currently anticipated by
management could occur in the future and result in adjustments
to the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements, except as explained in Note 2(b), which addresses
changes in accounting policies.

EASHBRRANERBRERE A
(&)
IhET IS B A FIE ([EEEHFIE])
M EERAEEEREERGENS BB
EREEESONE(HERSMEX]) -
MHEEESMEEEEFHET  BEH
FREERNEEEENBEETFIE -
HEEFFNEZHETEUNLERET
ERRERECHAEEEAARAEEY
EE - WHRAELUE AR & B A ABEER
ZIEGETMEBARBEES ZME - giARE
ErixHANEENS  HEBSH XK
FRGETE Al AEEFERRAAA
BRI R A B (S H R R A E R
KA HEEEMRBAIEEERTE - B
BERE TRBAREAR (WAEENE
BEIR) - AEBEGAEEERKEEAEDN
BREED BRI T4 1248 5 o el T
15 A Ti‘bﬂ/dﬁi >50 I%!ﬁ' H'J$’§

le]%’U 8,000 E& 7,0007T °

COVID-19 Ay 7 &
COVID-19Z IEE R EIREIE B AR B H{A I
KEPARBER - BEAEERNFERIME
i&iﬁ%e%f&covm-wﬁ’\i B 5 5
CEEAREEEKNEENBZEDT
EEE cHI - BEEEZAARAEANEE
AREERBRBETEBEAEEEER
BEMNREEELRAE -

TXHHEEHBRCRZFVBHRERL7
EVFTA MR A B BUE A - HEMTRE2(0) P
BOSFHREBRI)

2020 FiR / B (1977) #ZRABERAT 69



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 T BUF 2
2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published 2(b) 722020 F A R Hy ¥ 2 AR AR ZE Al
standards effective in 2020 Z AR REEIR
On 1.10.2019, the Group adopted the following IFRS that are MR2019F 10 A1 H - REEHM NYIBZ
mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the AieseflERMBE R BmEED - K&
Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in B = 51 BUR B AR 15 48 e BB B 75 3 &5 22 )
accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective BB R L ERE o
IFRS.
Reference Description gl i
IFRS 16 Leases Bl B B 2RI 1658 ik
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments AR BRERBREE FEREENTRET
REZ23H
Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement BB RAZ19KBITA BB ERIER
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures BResERZBREIA REERARGEREN
KR
Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation BRI aEERE 95 ABBRENENTERY
BRI
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle: IR B IR ER 2016 2 2017 FBHN FRE -
— Amendments to FRS 3 Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation - ERMEREENEIRR  KARAREBBENER
and IFRS 11 BRHBREEANE N R
{BETA
— Amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax Consequences of Payments on — BB e ERE 2R8I A "*EMEME’@%IEE’J
Financial Instruments Classified as Equity NREERNAERTE
— Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs Eligiole for Capitalisation RestBAE B RETR SERERMETRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published 2(b) 722020 F A= R H) ¥ 2 A8 2E A

standards effective in 2020 (Continued)

The adoption of these new and amended IFRS did not result in
substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies nor any
significant impact on these financial statements except for the
following:

IFRS 16 Leases

The Group applied IFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up
approach, which requires the Group to recognise lease liability
at the present value of future lease payments using IBR
applicable to the leased asset and to recognise right-of-use
asset equal to their lease liabilities at the date of initial
application without restatement of comparatives under I1AS 17.
The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed
below. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 16 have
not generally been applied to comparative information.

Definition of a lease

Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether
an arrangement was or contained a lease under IFRIC 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The
Group now assesses wWhether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition of a lease, as explained in IFRS 16.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the
practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which
transactions are leases. The Group applied IFRS 16 only to
contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts
that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4
were not reassessed for whether there is a lease under IFRS
16. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 was
applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after
1.10.2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for FY2020
2020 AL E

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published 2(b) 722020 F A R Hy ¥ 2 AR AR ZE Al

standards effective in 2020 (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee

The Group holds its leasehold land as a lessee. The Group
previously classified the lease as an operating lease based on
its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group. Under IFRS 16, the Group
recognises right-of-use asset and lease liability for this lease i.e.
the lease is on-balance sheet.

The Group has elected, as a practical expedient of IFRS 16, not
to separate non-lease components from lease components for
all classes of underlying assets and instead account for each
lease component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component, except if the non-lease
component is an embedded derivative according to IFRS 9
Financial Instruments.

Leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17

Previously, the Group classified its leasehold land as operating
lease under IAS 17. On transition, for this lease, lease liability
was measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate applicable to the lease as at 1.10.2019. Right-of-use asset
is measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted
by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial
position immediately before the date of initial application.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published 2(b) 722020 F A R H) ¥ 2 A8 2 A

standards effective in 2020 (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The Group used a number of practical expedients when
applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating
leases under IAS 17. In particular, the Group:

° excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the
right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and

° used hindsight when determining the lease term.
Deferred tax effects on adoption of IFRS 16

In the jurisdiction that the Group operates in, tax deductions are
available only for the lease payments as they are paid, and no
tax deduction is allowed for the leased asset depreciation or
finance cost. On 1.10.2019, these tax circumstances give rise
to temporary differences on initial recognition of both the right-
of-use asset and lease liability. However, the deferred tax
effects for these temporary differences, either initially or over the
lease term, are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption in IFRS 12 Income Taxes, that explicitly
excludes recognising the deferred tax effects arising from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor
taxable profit.

In July 2019, the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) decided to propose amendments to International
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 12 Income Taxes which would
narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption in IAS 12
such that it would no longer apply when an entity recognises
equal amounts of deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability
arising from the initial recognition of right-of-use asset and a
lease liability under International Financial Reporting Standard
(“IFRS”) 16 Leases. In November 2019, the public comment
window had closed for the Exposure Draft on Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
(Proposed amendments to IAS 12) issued by IASB. If
implemented, an entity shall apply these amendments
retrospectively. At the date of these financial statements, IASB
has not issued these amendments to IAS 12 or any related
IFRS pronouncements. Accordingly, no adjustment has been
made by the Group in these financial statements in respect of
this matter.
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2020 AL E

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published
standards effective in 2020 (Continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
Impact on financial statements
Impact on transition
On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised additional right-
of-use asset and lease liability. The impact on transition is
summarised below.

2(b) 22020 F 4 3 A B M8 5 ZE B

LR RE MSRT AN (1)
BB TSR 5 R 16 A E ()

HHBBRRZE
BENTE

RBEEBRM B REEINE165E - K
SECHEABINERAEEENEERE -
EENFERANT -

1.10.2019

2019410 81H

$'000

FT

Increase in right-of-use asset FRAREEEEN 303
Increase in lease liability HEAEEMN 303

When measuring lease liability for lease that was classified as
operating lease, the Group discounted lease payments using
the applicable incremental borrowing rate at 1.10.2019. The
rate applied is 3.50%.

REtENEAKEREZRENHEARE
B AEEFEHA2019F 10 A1 B Ry EMAIE
EEFRMNEEHENFETIE - FTAKN
FE £3.50% °

1.10.2019
20194 10H1H
$'000
Fit
Operating lease commitments as at 30.9.2019  REI MR AN RIEBRE S 185 17 57
as disclosed under IAS 17 in the WEERIR 2019 9 A 30 A A& & T &R dE
financial statements 366
Less effects of: WA TIEB L
Discounting based on the average incremental 1% 191% & & 7 R R ETITIR
borrowings rate (63)
Lease liability recognised at 1.10.2019 PR2019F10 A1 BHERNHEEAR 303
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2020 R /&

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published 2(b) 722020 F A= R H) ¥ 2 A8 2E A
standards effective in 2020 (Continued) ZRRERIEET R ()
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments B ERERBEEEREE 23K~

HEEHTRE M

The Group has adopted IFRIC 23 for the first time in the current REBEERAFEHNRABERYB®RE
year. IFRIC 23 sets out how to determine the accounting tax RRELZEGREE3N BRI BmER
position when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. EBZEeREEBNEHMTMEHERR
The Interpretation requires the Group to: ETEEENBATHNET ST LN

BN - RiFZEE - AEEE

o determine whether uncertain tax positions are assessed . BT EE RIS B R B AT
separately or as a group; and NSk tEA—HTE &

o assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will . T EHEREBERSENEES—EE
accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to BEREFTSH A RAF B E R
be used, by an entity in its income tax filings, as follows: TEEMRIGEIE % - BT
— if yes, the Group should determine its accounting - B AEBETHEHH

tax position consistently with the tax treatment used T4 MR 5 B B TS 758 FR SR A
or planned to be used in its income tax filings; or AN EERANBEEER

EER B

— if no, the Group should reflect the effect of - B AEEEREBTH
uncertainty in determining its accounting tax & ET RIS B S AT B
position using either the most likely amount or the A 1) S TR BB DR R R
expected value method MR E
There is no material impact to the Group’s financial statements. REENPBRRTUBZEATE -
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for FY2020
2020 AL E

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted

The following are the new or amended IFRS and IFRIC issued
that are not yet effective but may be early adopted for the
current financial year. However, the Group has not adopted the
new or amended IFRS and IFRIC in preparing these financial

2(c) RIARTRANHIFTAER

| MR

AT B AREBERBERN AP R FEIRF
RN BT BT BRIR M RS
EALERVBHRERBERZEGRE - A
- AN SR B AR B 5 B A SRR B R R 3R

statements: M2 F T S ET BIPR B 7% i 5 22 A1 |2
BRI mERELZaeRE
Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on
Reference Description or after)
EHAH
(RUT B
82Z i M EERM)
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material 1.1.2020
EIFR & st ERISE 1 5% R B g s ERIE 8 SR IEFT A BRNEE 202041 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1.1.2020
BUFR B 53R 5 2R S 3SR ET A EBHEE 20201 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1.1.2020
BB B 5 S A RIEE O 5% ~ BIBR AT ERIE 395 R FIREA%ENE 20201 A1 H
BIR B  d S 2R 7 SRS RT AR
Various Amendments to References to the Conceptual 1.1.2020
Framework in IFRS Standards
%18 T it B R B 75 s o E BB S AE RV IE T 20201 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions 1.6.2020
B B T R AR RN 3 16 SRAE AT AR COVID-19 1H B & ZR 20206 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 1.1.2021
and IFRS 16
BIRR B 5 S AERIZE O 5% » BIBR G E B RIE 395% «  FIRERENFE — B2RR 20211 A1 H
B B 5 3 S 22 RS 7 5% - BB B H5 3RE 2E R
58 457 N BN B B s S 2RI B 16 SR IEFT A
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment — Proceeds 1.1.2022
before Intended Use
BIFR &5 R E 165K IEFT R W - WEREE — BT REANMETIE 20221 A1H
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract 1.1.2022
=R A A C RPN BEEH — BITAKBNKR 202261 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1.1.2022
BB B 75 i 5 HE BRI 28 3 SRS FT AR R S AESR 20221 A1H
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle:
B 1 75 ¥ o5 £ A1) 2018 4F 2 2020 438 Hi A0 £ [E 5GEE -
— Amendments to IAS 41 Taxation in Fair Value Measurements 1.1.2022
— BB ERIE 41 FERT A ATEFTETHHE 2022%1 A1H
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2020 L &

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted (Continued)

2(c) MIARIRANHIFTAER

| R ()

Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on
Reference Description or after)
EHBEH
(RUAT BHESk A%
2% R R FEHIRE)
— Amendments to IFRS 1 Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter 1.1.2022
— B SImEEAE 1 RERTA ERBIRERMENMME QA 20221 A1H
— Amendments to IFRS 9 Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ Test for Derecognition of 1.1.2022
Financial Liabilities
— B SIRE A E ORIERT A BRIERERAEN10%ARTERENER 20221 A1H
— Amendments to lllustrative Lease Incentives 1.1.2022
Examples accompanying IFRS 16
— B BHREEAF16FNHALRIETTER HEE=R 20221 A1H
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1.1.2023
B B RS R AR 17 5% Rz &4 202341 A1H
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1.1.2023
Non-current
BB & 5T RIS 1 SRIERT A MENSIEREBES 20281 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 7 and IFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption from 1.1.2023
Applying IFRS 9
BB B 75 i 5 HE BRI EE 7 5% % BEAEABERVERESEAFIRNERIHRE 2028341 H81H

BB B 5 R S 2R R 3 4 SRS RT AR
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

BIFR B FS 3R S RIE 10 5% M E R &5 £
F 28 USRI A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

WEEEHEBENRIREEEZHLN
BELSHRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(c) MAFRMIFTER MR @)

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted (Continued)
Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the above
IFRS in future periods will have a material impact on the financial
statements of the Group in the period of their initial adoption,
except for the following:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments clarify the definition of material and how it
should be applied by including in the definition guidance. The
new definition of material states that “Information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence the decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial information
about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments clarify that
materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information. An entity will need to assess whether the
information, either individually or in combination with other
information, is material in the context of the financial statements.
A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1.1.2020. Earlier application is permitted.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments specify that the conditions which exist at the
end of the reporting period are those which will be used to
determine if a right to defer settlement of a liability exists.
Management expectations about events after the balance sheet
date, for example on whether a covenant will be breached, or
whether early settlement will take place, are not relevant. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered
settlement of a liability.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1.1.2023. Earlier application is permitted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRME
for FY2020
2020 L &

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling
parties.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the
perspective of the controlling parties. No amount is recognised
in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common control
combination, to the extent of the continuation of the interest of
the controlling parties.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses, as appropriate, from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the
common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the businesses had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period or when
they first came under common control, whichever is earlier.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries at the end of
the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company.
Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intragroup transactions and
dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)
(Continued)
Consolidation (Continued) mEANR (&)

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Thus, the Group controls an investee if, and only if,
the Group has all of the following:

(i) power over the investee;

(i)  exposure, or rights or variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

(i)  the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable
amount over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Building on leasehold land 60 years
Plant and machinery 5to 20 years
Motor vehicles 51to 10 years
Renovations 5 years
Plant and equipment 5to 10 years
Furniture and fittings 51to 10 years

Computers 3 years

No depreciation is provided for construction-in-progress.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as
part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the
obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred
as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset.

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and
equipment that have been recognised is added to the carrying
amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits in excess of the standard of performance of the asset
before the expenditure was made will flow to the Group and the
cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure
is recognised as an expense during the financial year in which it
is incurred.

For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year,
depreciation is recognised in profit or loss from the month that
the property, plant and equipment are installed and are available
for use, and to the month of disposal, respectively. Fully
depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the
books of accounts until they are no longer in use.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period as a change in estimates.

Building on leasehold land is measured at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses recognised
after the date of the revaluation. Any revaluation surplus is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is
recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in
profit or loss, where it exceeds an existing surplus on the same
asset carried in the revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

At valuation date, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a
manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying
amount of the asset. The accumulated depreciation is adjusted
to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and
the carrying amount of the asset after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses.

Software licence
Software licence is capitalised and amortised on a straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of 5 years.

Prepaid land premium
Prepaid land premium is amortised over the lease period of 11
years.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the entity
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets, at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables are measured at the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party
if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing
component at initial recognition. Refer to the accounting policy
on “Revenue from contracts with customers”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRME
for FY2020
2020 L &

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are “solely payments of principal and interest” (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as
the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are
classified in four categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

—  Financial assets at FVOCI with recycling of cumulative
gains and losses (debt instruments)

—  Financial assets designated at FVOCI with no recycling of
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity
instruments)

— Financial assets at FVTPL

The Group does not hold any financial assets at FVOCI or
financial assets at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the
contractual cash terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent SPPI are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through
amortisation process.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise trade
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional (i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) associated with its debt instrument assets
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 BAUAF 2
2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)
(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued) MBEE (B
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) B & ERE (58)
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for TBHEEBBY MEMRERER - HREY

which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (lifetime ECLS).

For trade receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Therefore, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at the end of each reporting
period. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020
2020 AL E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

° significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

° a breach of contract such as a default or being more than
90 days past due;

o the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

° it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of these

assets.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 BA R F[E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)
(Continued)
Financial liabilities M¥aE
Initial recognition and measurement %‘J]}Fﬁﬁ%’ Er—=

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of
its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise borrowings, lease
liability and trade and other payables.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at
fair value through profit or loss, such as interest-bearing
borrowings, are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised,
and through the amortisation process. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate.

Borrowings

Borrowings which are due to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period are included in current
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position if
the loan facility agreements include an overriding repayment on
demand clause which gives the lender the right to demand
repayment at any time at its sole discretion and irrespective of
whether a default event has occurred. These borrowings are
classified as current because, at the end of the reporting period,
the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer its
settlement for at least twelve months after that date. Other
borrowings due to be settled more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are included in non-current
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis, and
includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. In the case of manufactured products,
cost includes all direct expenditure and production overheads
based on the normal level of activity.

Allowance is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective
inventories in arriving at the net realisable value. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances
and fixed deposit maturing less than three months after the end
of the financial period.

Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of new ordinary shares that
have been issued. Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issuance of new ordinary shares are deducted against share
premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 T FE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)
(Continued)
Dividends B’E

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are not accounted for
in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because of the Articles grant the Directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised directly as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Leases

Policy applicable from 1.10.2019

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the
definition of a lease in IFRS 16. This policy is applied to
contracts entered into, on or after 1.10.2019.

As a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1.10.2019 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the
straight-line method from the commencement date to the end
of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will
exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset
will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset,
which is determined on the same basis as those of property
and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically
reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate.

The Group determines the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
by obtaining interest rates from various external financing
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of
the lease and type of the asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following:

o fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee; and

o the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an
optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early
termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably
certain not to terminate early.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1.10.2019 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if
there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
Zero.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. The Group recognises the lease payments associated
with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Policy applicable before 1.10.2019 (Continued)
As a lessee,

Finance leases

Where assets are financed by lease agreements that give rights
approximating to ownership, the assets are capitalised as if
they had been purchased outright at values equivalent to the
lower of the fair values of the leased assets and the present
value of the total minimum lease payments during the periods
of the leases. The corresponding lease commitments are
included under liabilities. The excess of lease payments over the
recorded lease obligations are treated as finance charges which
are amortised over each lease to give a constant effective rate
of charge on the remaining balance of the obligation.

The leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as detailed in the accounting policy
on “Property, plant and equipment”.

Operating leases

Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases.

Rentals on operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives, if any,
are recognised as an integral part of the net consideration
agreed for the use of the leased asset. Penalty payments on
early termination, if any, are recognised in profit or loss when
incurred.

Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised
at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax
authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the
deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and affects neither accounting or taxable profit or
loss at the time of the transaction.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authorities
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, provided
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised
simultaneously.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period; and

(i)  based on the tax consequence that will follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020
2020 AL E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Income taxes (Continued)
Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income
or expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax
arises from a business combination or a transaction which is
recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Group contributes to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), a
defined contribution plan regulated and managed by the
Government of Singapore, which applies to the employees. A
defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan
under which an entity pays fixed contribution into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay
further amounts. The contributions to CPF are charged to profit
or loss in the period to which the contributions relate.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. Accrual is made for the unconsumed
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Related parties
A related party is defined as follows:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group or the Company if that person:
i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or
(iy  is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or the Company or of a parent of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRME
for FY2020
2020 L &

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group or the Company if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the Company is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Company.

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the parent of the
reporting entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 (AL E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BEs (&)
Key management personnel FTEEEAS

Key management personnel are those persons having the
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the entity. Directors and certain management
executives are considered key management personnel.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other
than inventories, are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the
individual asset, then the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belong will be identified.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level.

Individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal
and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash flow
evaluation. Impairment loss recognised for a cash-generating
unit is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit. All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that
an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Any impairment loss is charged to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount or when
there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for
the asset no longer exists or decreases.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course
of business is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring control of a
promised good or service to the customer. The transaction
price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the
relative stand-alone selling prices of the promised goods or
services. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of
the transaction price allocated to the satisfied PO.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 AL E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the
contract to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services. When
consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in
the transaction price to the extent that it is highly probable that
a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is resolved.

Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time
following the timing of satisfaction of the PO.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised by the Group at
a point in time when the goods are delivered to the customer,
all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied, and the customer
obtains control of the goods.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss,
using the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants received are recognised as income over the
periods necessary to match them with the related costs which
they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
Government grants relating to expenses are shown separately
as other income.

Government grants are recognised as a receivable at their fair
values where there is reasonable assurance that the grants will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Value-added tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of value-added tax (“VAT”), except where the VAT
incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable
from the taxation authorities, in which case the VAT is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable, and except that trade
receivables and trade payables are recorded with the amount of
VAT included. The net amount of VAT recoverable from or
payable to the taxation authorities are included as part of other
receivables or other payables in the statement of financial
position.

Functional currencies

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in SGD, which is also the functional currency of the Company.

Conversion of foreign currencies

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency
(“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Currency translation differences from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates
at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or
loss.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis
as either other income or other expenses depending on
whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net
loss position.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 (AL E
2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)
(Continued)
Operating segments KA
An operating segment is a component of the Group that %Eﬁ% EREERIR S REERZ (8
engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues FHALETAEMERTO NS ERH

and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that
relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are
reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”), who is the chief operating decision maker, to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and
to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available. Additional disclosures on each of these
segments are shown in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, including the factors used to identify the reportable
segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share
options granted to employees, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 BAUAF 2
3  Property, Plant and Equipment 3 WE - BENEE
Building on
leasehold Plant and Motor Plant and Furniture Construction-
land(at  machinery vehicles  Renovations  equipment  andfittings ~ Computers  in-progress
revaluation) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) Total
AErHET  EERNE RE BY BERR%E GAREE . BRIR
(REf) (&H%) (RHA) (&R (BHA) (BRI (BRA) (BRE) @t
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
i n 7 T T o S o S
Cost or valuation HAGEE
At1.10.2018 2018510418 6,600 - 1,374 15 1,021 19 15 - 9,044
Addtions AE - - 438 - - - - 397 835
Revaluation Bff 507 - - - - - - - 507
Disposals L& - - (238) (19) (1,021) (19 (19) - (1,308
At30.9.2019 201969308 7,107 - 1,574 - - - - 397 9,078
Additions HRE - 209 128 - - - - 2,49 2,832
Revaluation B 170 - - - - - - - 170
At30.9.2020 R2020£9530H 1211 209 1,702 - - - - 2,802 12,080
Accumulated depreciation 23 E
At1.10.2018 #*2018510A1A 154 - 786 15 971 7 7 - 1,940
Depreciation nE 153 - 100 - 50 12 8 - 323
Disposals L& - - (18 (19) (1,021) (19 (1) - (1252)
At30.9.2019 R201959A30A 307 - 704 - - - - - 1011
Depreciation it 170 I 122 - - - - - 299
At 30.9.2020 R2020598308 4an 7 826 - - - - - 1,310
Carrying amount SEfE
At30.9.2020 R2020%9830H 6,800 202 876 - - - - 2,802 10,770
At309.2019 R201959A 308 6,800 - 870 - - - - 397 8,067
Construction-in-progress TEEIR

In FY2020, the Group commenced work on the construction of

a third storey to its building on leasehold land. The Group had

obtained permission from the Urban Redevelopment Authority

of Singapore to commence work on the third storey on
3.4.2019. As at 30.9.2020, costs incurred on the construction
amounted to $2,892,000 (2019: $397,000).

FR2020 AN E - AEEREMEE + g
FoRFMRERTIE - REEN20195F4
HAS3HEH % m & & i /B (the Urban
Redevelopment Authority of Singapore) #t
HETE=1EFIAHE L - 7202049 A 30 B i
T E 4 8 B AX /32,892,000 7T (2019 4F :

397,0007T) °

2020 &3/ B (1977) ERAERADF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE
for FY2020

2020 A E

3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

As at 30.9.2020, the building on leasehold land with carrying
amount of $6,800,000 (2019: $6,800,000) is mortgaged to
secure bank loan of $217,000 (2019: $317,000) (Note 11) and
other banking facilities granted to the Group.

The building on leasehold land is an industrial property located
at 11 Tuas South Street 5, Singapore 637590. The property
comprises one parcel of land with a total site area of
approximately 2,999.9 sg.m. and one block of two-storey
building erected thereon completed in around 2003. The
building has a gross floor area of approximately 2,993.42 sq.m.
The property is located on leasehold land held under the
Government leasehold estate for an initial term of 30 years
commencing from 16.8.2000 and expiring on 15.8.2030, with
an option to renew for an additional term of 30 years
commencing on 16.8.2030 and expiring on 15.8.2060.

Revaluation of building on leasehold land

In FY2020, management has engaged a firm of independent
professional valuers to perform valuation of the building on
leasehold land, having regard to the valuers’ recognised and
relevant professional qualifications and recent experience in the
location and category of the property being valued.

In determining the fair value of the building on leasehold land,
the valuers used the market approach. Based on the valuation
report as at 30.9.2020, the fair value was determined to be
$6,800,000 (2019: $6,800,000). As at 30.9.2020, the
revaluation surplus of $141,000 (2019: $443,000) (after
deducting the related tax of $29,000 (2019: $64,000) (Note 10))
was recognised in other comprehensive income.
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20209 A30H » B& M {&6,800,000 7T
(20194F : 6,800,0007T) I E LHIEFE F
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RITER (1) RIRTFAEEHEARIT

%M E + #EF AL 711 Tuas South
Street 5, Singapore 637590 H) T 3 4 ¥ o
ZERE—RAMATIEL2,009.9FF
Kz £ Je B —1EH 2003 F A& B K 2
MESEF ZEFNRELEEED
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R2020 M [ » 48 E b ER 2 R &
HRAEXERARREGEY R Z R
BRZaMER EREEE-RBLE
HEAEMATEEE T EFTHEITHE -

RETHETEF 2 AFER - HERD
FRATHE o RIBFF 20209 A30 B IAE
e - AF(EET £6,800,0007T (2019 -
6,800,0007T) ° FA2020F9 A30H - &1
Z3£2 141,000 7T (20194F : 443,0007T ) (4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME
for FY2020

2020 A E

3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Revaluation of leasehold building (Continued)

The carrying amount of the building on leasehold land that
would have been recognised had it been carried under the cost
model was $832,000 (2019: $915,000).

Sale or transfer of the building on leasehold land held for own
use is subject to consent from the Government leasehold
estate.

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The fair value measurement of the building on leasehold land
stated at revalued amount has been categorised as a Level 3
fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.
The following table shows the valuation technique used in
measuring the Level 3 fair value hierarchy, as well as the

Y% - BB MR ()
EMEERT (BE)
WIERAEXTER - AIRERNEE Tihig
F Bk [ 18 £832,000 7T (2019 £F : 915,000
JT) e

HEXWEFFEANEELHBFTAL
BNHERMERE -

E1ERIT REAX T A B A 25
REMSBIENHEL HWEFHATE
AEERAGEERTNEABEBIER
FEIWATE - TRIIRABEIRATFE
JE AP A ER - AR ARERD
QE:E3 VN ¢

significant unobservable inputs used:

Inter-relationship
between key

unobservable
Significant inputs and
Valuation unobservable fair value

Description technique inputs measurement Range
FTEFTHERA
BBREAVEHNE

g R ER M EXATTERBABE ZBHEDEE gE

Building on leasehold Market approach by Adjustments applied to A significant increase in -~ 2020: Discount of

land — industrial
property in Singapore

making reference to
comparable sale
transactions as
available in the
Singapore market.

HELHET — RIME TR B2EHMMNE

TEME

THARNTE LR
HERS

market comparables,
taking into consideration
the remaining lease
tenure, timing of such
transactions and
location of comparable
properties.

HAE BB A AR

HE - BEEHT
HEFH  FRARZH
B AT A LB
B E o

market selling prices
would result in a
significantly higher fair
value measurement,
and vice versa.

BEEM RZTA -

36% to 42%
of comparables

2019: Discount of
31% to 42%
of comparables

2020 : EAJ B LR
THETE36% E 42%

2019%F : B[ B L&
HEFE31% E42%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A >
e M EHRKRME
for FY2020
2020 A E
4 Right-of-use asset 4 [EHESE
Leasehold land
HEL
$’000
Fr
Cost 5%
Adoption of IFRS 16 RN BIFR B 15 S 22 R S 16 5%
— Initial recognition — IR 303
At 1.10.2019 (adjusted) R2019F 10 A1 B (KHAE) 303
Effect of changes in market rental rates mEHeREE e (7)
At 30.9.2020 720209 H30H 296
Accumulated depreciation REtinE
At 1.10.2019 R20194F10A1H -
Depreciation e 28
At 30.9.2020 20209 A30H 28
Carrying amount BREE
At 30.9.2020 720209 A 30H 268
At 1.10.2019 R2019F 10 A1 H 303
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 R /&
5 Inventories 5 &
2020 2019
2020 £ 20194F
$°000 $'000
Fx T
Goods-in-transit — at cost FEE M — RRAK 153 100
Finished goods — at cost BURL G — LA 6,399 424
6,552 524

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense and included in “cost of sales” is as follows:

HERBAX LA [HERA] FEEH
DL -

2020 2019

2020 F 20194

$°000 $'000

Fr T

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEREE 9,360 11,258

During the reporting period, Sunlight Paper was appointed by
the Singapore government to purchase additional toilet rolls.
The Group may sell or dispose the toilet rolls in the normal
course of its business. As at 30.9.2020, the finished goods of
$6,399,000 comprise additional toilet rolls held for this purpose,
amounting to $5,951,000 (2019: $nil) and is fully funded by way
of a loan from the Singapore government (Note 11).

REREHIR - Sunlight Paper & 37 03 B T
ZANEEEINOEESE - AEETR
HAREBBARTHERNEEHESH -
202049 A30 R © 6,399,000 T B & X
mEIES L B B MRS €%1/55,951,000 7T
(20194 : B )WBINMEESHE R TR H
BT R E R E R (H5E11) -

Trade and Other Receivables 6 EZNEMEWFIE
2020 2019
2020 20194
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Trade receivables from third parties REE=FTHE SHEMFIA 1,615 2,571
Other receivables H b pE Y ke 281 131
Deposits wme 1,965 310
Financial assets at amortised cost TR SR AP R BT TS B 3,861 3,012
Input GST, net HEIERF R 270 -
4,131 3,012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE
for FY2020

2020 A E

6

Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

As at 1.10.2018, the Group’s gross trade receivables from
contracts with customers due from third parties amounted to
$2,358,000.

The Group generally extends credit period of O to 30 days
(2019: 0 to 30 days) to customers, depending on the length of
business relationship, payment history, background and
financial strength of the customers. The Group actively reviews
the trade receivable balances and follows up on outstanding
debts with the customers.

Trade receivables arise from customers in Singapore.

Based on invoice dates, ageing analysis of the Group’s trade
receivables is as follows:

B 5 N E At e W HIE ()
R2018FE10 A1 » AEERMEKRE=
HFEAHE RN IEEEEA2,358,0007T °

AEE-MARFEREEHOE30H
(20194 : 0£30H)  NRFEFLHER
BERFH NREL  BERMBENM
F o AREREGRTE D ERFEEH K
IR P 8 R K ET

BZRWFIRRBFHIENEP ©

BHEBZAE NEEZ S EWFENER
BT

2020 2019

2020 £ 20194

$’000 $000

Fr T

0 to 30 days 0&30H 931 1,360
31 to 60 days 31£60H 485 789
61 to 90 days 61290H 134 325
Over 90 days HBiE90 H 65 97
1,615 2,571

Based on due dates, the ageing analysis of trade receivables
that are not impaired is as follows:

REBEFHE - HARBENESEEFRIED
BREROMTEAT -

2020 2019

2020 20194

$000 $000

Fr Tt

Not past due NI 4 460 HR 926 1,359
Past due O to 30 days BHEI0OZE30H 492 769
Past due 31 to 60 days #HEI31 £60H 128 346
Past due 61 to 90 days #HEI61 290 H 67 88
Past due over 90 days B HEAERIBO0 A 2 9
1,615 2,571
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME
for FY2020

2020 A E

6

Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade
receivables, as they mainly arise from customers that have a
good credit record with the Group.

Trade and other receivables are denominated in SGD.

B 5 K E A EURIE ()
ERERBNE  ARBREBEARES
FEMCHOR e R B R B k2 e
PR Bk EAEEAES R EE R
BES -

B 5 N E AL FEMGRIA T AR I TTRTHE

Cash and Cash Equivalents ReLRESFED
2020 2019
2020 F 20194F
$000 $000
Fr T
Cash in bank RITIRS 2,938 1,494
Cash on hand FoEIR S 3 6
2,941 1,500
Fixed deposit TFEATER 1,007 5,528
3,948 7,028

The fixed deposit had a weighted average maturity of 5 days
(2019: 19 days) from the end of the reporting period with an
effective interest rate of 0.05% (2019: 1.25%) per annum at the
end of the reporting period.

Included in cash in bank is the unutilised drawdown from the
Singapore government loan of $736,000 which is restricted to
payments for expenditure incurred on the purchase of additional
toilet rolls.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following
currencies:

FHERMINET SR A AEREHK
58 (20194 - 198) » RBEHRKD
BB EFRA0.05% (20194F : 1.25%) °

SFARTESATMBERFERNAS A
IEEUEIA 736,000 ' ZAERERAR X
NEREREINNEESEEEANAS

RERRLEBYINVATINERE :

2020 2019

2020 & 20194

$°000 $°000

Fx FT

HKD T 60 3,590
SGD T 3,888 3,438
3,948 7,028
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 A E
8  Share Capital 8 AR
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 F 20194 2020 F 2019F
Number of ordinary shares $°000 $'000
ZEREE Tr Fr
Issued and fully paid BERTRAR
At 1 October and 30 September 1081 H X9 A30H 800,000,000 800,000,000 1,338 1,338
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends LTRRIFEAFEBEDTIRERARKS
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per BRBE-RIMKREAEE—F - HAQ
share at shareholders’ meetings. All shares rank equally with RIZFHREEMS MERMHEZERS
regard to the Company’s residual assets. AL ©
9 Reserves 9 f#iE
2020 2019
2020 20194
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Share premium f& 1D m B 6,221 6,221
Merger reserve EHFE 580 580
Revaluation reserve EhER 5,295 5,154
Retained earnings IR &F 2,254 1,857
14,350 138,812
Share premium B2 RE
Share premium represents the excess of proceeds from the RO REIEETHNEBRABHIEBLE
issuance of new ordinary shares over the nominal value of the BTG EE R BRI AR (5 21T X K
shares issued, net of share issue expenses. H o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 R /&
9 Reserves (Continued) 9
Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the excess of the share capital
of Sunlight Paper, which is the sole operating subsidiary of the
Group, over the consideration given in the Reorganisation. The
merger reserve is not available for distribution to Shareholders.
Revaluation reserve
Revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of building on
leasehold land under the revaluation model (Note 3). The
revaluation reserve is not available for distribution to
Shareholders.
10 Deferred Tax Liabilities 10
Movements in deferred tax liabilities during the financial year are
as follows:
Recognised
Recognised in in other

profit or loss  comprehensive

At1.10.2018 (Note 19) income
Ro8E  MEEER  REM2E
10818 (Mt 19) haERR

o8 ()

GOt

A B 5 48 Sunlight Paper (7 & [ #) 1 —
HIBIB AR AR EARERENE
o AUHREB T AT ARSI FRRE -

Efhf#E
EfMHEHEIEREEHRANEE L 2
FEM(KFES) - EEFHETTRARYIKT
PR o

RIETHIRRE
REBTBEFEEANNRLERIES SN
T

Recognised

Recognised in in other

profit or loss  comprehensive
At30.9.2019 (Note 19) income  At30.9.2020
RO19F  MEEER  REM2E H2020%
9A30H (Bfzt19) hEED 9A30H

$000 $/000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
T T S S T T n

Property, plant and equipment 1% ~ BiE RRfE
— depreciation -fE 51 37 - 88 57 - 145
— revaluation - & 965 - 64 1,029 - 29 1,058
1,016 37 64 1,17 57 29 1,203
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 A E
11 Borrowings 11 &
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
$°000 $000
Tr Tt
Non-current ERE
Bank loan RITER 114 217
Current TED
Bank loan RITER 103 100
Singapore government loan N E 5K 7,000 -
7,103 100
7,217 317
The Singapore government loan is for the purpose of FINMERRERDARBEERINVEES
purchasing additional toilet rolls (Note 5). The loan is interest- H(MI3ES) - ZERARE - EIKW - I E
free, unsecured, and to be repaid from the proceeds of the sale HESLESENASREREE -
or disposal of the toilet rolls.
Repayment schedule BREERXR
The repayment schedule of the Group’s borrowings is as REBEBERHEREFBELT
follows:
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
$°000 $000
F T
Within 1 year 1FR 7,103 100
Between 1 and 2 years 122%F 106 103
Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F 8 114
7,217 317
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for FY2020
2020 L &

11

Borrowings (Continued) 11
Terms and debt repayments schedule

M)

HRREEBEREER

The terms and conditions of borrowings at the end of the RS BAR ) 8BRS R MR T
reporting period are as follows:
Nominal
interest rate Year of Face Carrying
Currency (p.a) maturity value amount
SEAE
g% (BF) HAEHR HE REE
$'000 $000
Tr T
2020 2020 F
Singapore government loan ¥ AN BT &7 SGD 2023
Fg 0.0% 2023% 7,000 7,000
Bank loan RITER SGD 2022
FR T 3.0% 2022% 217 217
2019 20195
Bank loan RITER SGD 2022
AR 3.0% 2022 317 317

The bank loan is secured by the Group’s building on leasehold
land (Note 3) and a corporate guarantee from the Company.

RITERDAREENEE 102 F (M5
3) RARR R A RIERIER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 AL E

11

Borrowings (Continued)
Carrying amounts and fair values

11

EENC )

REERATVE

The carrying amounts and fair values of long-term borrowings RIpE RN RBBERETDERAFEWN
at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N
Carrying
amount Fair value
FREE H{E
$'000 $000
Tt T
2020 2020
Bank loan RITER 217 217
2019 2019
Bank loan |ITER 317 317

The fair values are determined from the discounted cash flow
analyses, using the implicit discount rates based upon the
borrowing rates which the directors expect would be available
at the end of the reporting period, as follows:

RFEDREBEERRESTE
REFFEIN RS HIRA

BElREEENT

S AR
B 1 R R 1

2020 2019

2020 F 20194

% p.a. % p.a.

BF % B5F%

Bank loan IRITER 3.0 3.0

The fair value hierarchy of the above long-term borrowings is
Level 2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for FY2020
2020 BAUAF 2
12 Lease Liability 12 HE&AE
Leasehold land
HE L
$'000
F
At 1.10.2019 R2019F 10 A1 H -
Adjustment on application of IFRS 16 FE A BIRR B 1 e S R RIS 16 SR ELL A9 A& 303
At 1.10.2019 (adjusted) R2019F10 A1 B (KFE) 303
Accreted interest (Note 16) FERTFE (MFE16) 1
Effect of changes in market rental rates mHEHeEHNTE (7)
Payment of lease liabilities and interest XNHEEaERFNE (34)
At 30.9.2020 7202059 A 30H 273
Represented by: g -
— Non-current — JEENER 247
— Current — BNHR 26
273

Rental expenses not capitalised in lease liabilities but recognised

within “administrative expenses” in profit or loss are set out

below:

HEMXAENMEAEERE  ERTX
1B [T ] RHER

2020
2020 &
$°000
Frx

Short-term leases

REHE

10

At 30.9.2020, the Group’s short-term lease commitments at

the reporting date are not substantially dissimilar to those giving

rise to the Group’s short-term lease expense for the year.

Further information about the financial risk management are

disclosed in Note 26.

20209 A30H « REBRARE AL
MERAEREEZSSIRATFEAEER
MEHEETENEEERETEEXR
EH o

BBRS IR S IR M — 25 KA 3 26
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020
2020 A E
13 Trade and Other Payables 13 B 5 NEMERFKIA
2020 2019
2020 £ 20194F
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Trade payables to third parties ENE=FESEMNFIE 844 1,536
Accrued directors’ fees EErESES 100 100
Accrued employee benefits EsHEE &R 395 484
Accrued expenses EEtF 205 187
Other payables H A JE T F0IR 127 136
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RESHRC AR DIBR I S B | 1,671 2,443
Output GST, net SHIERFEE - 71
1,671 2,514
The average credit period taken to settle trade payables is HEEE FENFRIBRTH Hi®) /30K

approximately 30 days (2019: 30 days).

Based on invoice dates, ageing analysis of the Group’s trade

(20194 : 30K) °

REZZEH  AEEESEMNFENK

payables is as follows: BT
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
$°000 $000
Fx Tt
0 to 30 days 0E 30K 801 1,294
31 to 60 days 31 260X 43 242
61 to 90 days 61 290K - -
Over 90 days B0 K - -
844 1,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 AL 2
13 Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 13 B REMENFIE @)
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following B 5 REMBENRIBEA T EBHE
currencies:
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
SGD N o 1,671 2,500
MYR 2% - 14
1,671 2,514
14 Revenue 14 Wz
Significant categories of revenue, excluding applicable goods B AR RS LA - AU S SER
and services tax, are detailed as follows: ESIN NN
2020 2019
2020 &£ 20194
$°000 $'000
Fx T
Revenue from contracts with customers B F & Ui
— Sale of goods — HEER 13,227 15,468
Timing of transfer of goods sl R
— At a point in time — RE 2 13,227 15,468
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M A 2
mEMBEHRRMNE
for FY2020
2020 R 2
15 Other Income 15 Bl A
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4F
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Foreign exchange gain, net HINEE U 25 5 5 105 23
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BERERENRE
plant and equipment - 5
Interest income ) B A 36 82
Sundry income MU A 385 20
Trademark income GIEILPN 48 46
574 176
16 Finance Costs 16 FRE A
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Interest expenses on: IATHFERAE
— bank loan — RITERK 8 11
— lease liability (Note 12) —HEBE(HE12) 11 -
— finance leases — REME - 1
19 12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 BAUAF 2
17 Profit Before Taxation 17 BRFAT&F
2020 2019
2020 2019
Note $°000 $000
FisE Tr T
Profit before taxation has B HIRR LA T B IR HOBR T AT
been arrived at after charging: il
Amortisation of prepaid land premium T b (E 1 4 46 -
Amortisation of software licence BRI " -
Auditor’s remuneration P CIE 35 35
Cost of inventories recognised in R ER AR FEER A
cost of sales 5 9,360 11,258
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREETE
plant and equipment 3 299 323
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 4 28 -
Operating lease expenses RETRERY - 61
Staff costs (including Directors’ EIXA(BIEEEEHD
remuneration (Note 18)) (KtzE18))
— salaries and other related costs — Fe REMABERA 2,147 2,019
— contributions to defined — AEHFEEIHR
contribution plan 127 116
2,274 2,135
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE R MEE
for FY2020
2020 A E
18 Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid 18 EEHFMEAEEZSHF AT
Individuals
(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) E=Hw
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Discretionary Defined
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
Hé 24
BB REUEA MiEwA REME &t
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i i i i
FY2020 NNHHEFE
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Chua Liang Sie ERBRE % 234 3 9 304
Ms. Chua Joo Gek ERTRT 25 126 19 8 178
Mr. Chua Liang Chul BRPAE % 192 3 13 258
Mr. Chua Wenhao EELE 25 120 7 13 165
Independent non-executive Directors: BV #4778 % -
Mr. Tan Heng Thye Tan Heng Thye £ 4
(resigned on 27.11.2020) (A 2000% 11 A 27 BEHT) 10 - - - 10
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie EBLE 10 - - - 10
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Syhia PRILL 10 - - - 10
130 672 90 423 935
FY2019 0198 BERE
Executive Directors: HTEE:
Mr. Chua Liang Sie BRELE % 180 47 11 263
Ms. Chua Joo Gek ERpTat 25 108 32 7 172
Mr. Chua Liang Chui BRARE 25 150 41 13 229
Mr. Chua Wenhao Y Qi 2% 108 9 14 151
Independent non-executive Directors: BV #5772 % -
Mr. Tan Heng Thye Tan Heng Thye £ 4
(appointed on 17.12.2018) (R2018% 12 A 17 BEZf) 8 - - - 8
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie ENBEE
(appointed on 28.2.2019) (201952 A28 BEZ () 6 - - - 6
Ms. Lye Knheng Joke Sylvia PRIft
(appointed on 28.2.2019) (R2019%2 A28 BEZ() 6 - - - 6
Mr. Yeo Hai Thong Michael BERLE
(resigned on 17.12.2018) (R2018%F 12 A 17 BEHT) 7 - - - 7
Mr. Teo Beng Fwee RRELE
(resigned on 28.2.2019) (2019 2 A28 BEHE) 13 - - - 13
Mr. Law Kin Ho BEsit
(resigned on 28.2.2019) (2019 2 A28 BEHE) 13 - - - 13
Total @5t 153 541 129 45 868
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRME
for FY2020
2020 L &

18 Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid

Individuals (Continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)
During the year, no Director or any of the highest paid
individuals waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
(2019: Nil). No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors or any of the highest paid individuals of the
Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office as a Director of any
member of the Group or of any other office in connection
with the management of the affairs of any member of the
Group (2019: Nil).

(a)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included 4
Directors (2019: 4) for the year, whose emoluments are

reflected in note (a).

(b)

The analysis of the emolument of the remaining 1 (2019:
1) highest paid non-Director individual for the year, is set

18 BFEHFMMAZEZSHALT@®

BESHM (R

RER - BEESHIEAREHAL
MEXFEREEFME (2019F ¢
B) AEEMERNESIAKEET
&S HA TN ERRSIEN
AR EB AR EE LR R A
REFEAREBEAIKE AR EER
FEERAREBEMKE RREBHE
28 & £ fo] EL 4 Bk iz B0 48 (B (2019 F -
) o

EEREHAL
RERN AEBRETZaHALTERE
AREE (20196 1 45)  EBie:F
BEENMIEE @) ©

RER B T182(2019F 1 18) &
BEEEBEATNBS S MEIN

out below: T
2020 2019
2020 20194
$°000 $000
T ¥
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 ~ ZBY R EWEF) 199 151
Discretionary bonuses BIETEAT 45 63
Defined contributions REMK 15 18
259 232

The emolument paid or payable to each of the above
non-Director individuals for the year fell within the
following band:

RER ENHEN LREIFEZA
THMEER THIHE

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
A AZ
Nil to HK$1,000,000 or S$176,000 £ %1,000,000/8 7184 176,000
(2019: S$175,000) # T (2019 4F
175,0003% 7T) - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 # 7T 2 1,500,000
or S$176,001 to S$264,500 B ITE 176,001 WL E
(2019: S$262,500) 264,500 7t (2019 4F :
262,500 3% 7T) 1 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020
2020 R 2
19 Taxation 19 18
2020 2019
2020 20194
$°000 $000
Fx Ft
Current taxation BIEATR I8
— current year — REE 125 164
— changes in estimates in respect of — BEFEMGFTE
prior years 16 7
141 171
Deferred taxation (Note 10) IRERIA (FIFE10)
— current year — REE 55 37
— changes in estimates in respect — BEFEMNEETE
of prior years 2 -
54 34
198 208

The tax expense on the results of the financial year varies from
the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable

ETIREFE  MBRFEANEENTRE
X BN ERBRANEENMEHRE

rate of income tax on accounting profits as a result of the FrEEMSH &8
following:
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
$°000 $°000
Fx FT
Profit before taxation B BT Vs A 595 618
Tax at statutory rates applicable to EARTRENAERAEEMRE
different jurisdictions 146 178
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses AT H0IF G X T IS 28 53 53
Tax effect on non-taxable income FERTRU AR TR TS s 22 (18) 4)
Tax exempt income, rebates RRFUWA -~ B REE
and incentives (17) (19
Adjustments for prior years BEFENFE 18 7
Others Hit 16 (7)
198 208
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME
for FY2020

2020 A E

19

20

Taxation (Continued)

Cayman Islands

The Company is not subject to taxes on profit, income or
dividends in the Cayman Islands.

BVI
The subsidiary in BVI, SPP Investments, is not subject to
income tax as it is tax exempted under the laws of BVI.

Singapore

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the principal
operating subsidiary in Singapore, Sunlight Paper, is 17%
(2019: 17%) for FY2020.

Non-deductible expenses mainly relate to private motor vehicles
and related expenses and unrealised foreign exchange
differences.

Earnings per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share was
based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of
$397,000 (2019: $410,000), and a weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding of 800,000,000 (2019:
800,000,000).

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding in FY2020 and FY2019.

19

20

FTE ()
R
RATBERBESHENRT - WALR
BARR

RERLHES
BRREBREZHSWWE X AISPP
Investments IRIE R B R LB AR ER R
W MBS -

hnsE

AN 3 B AL BT B A 7 Sunlight Paper 7
2020 T FH BRI EMERER17%
(20194F : 17%) °

NETHNTRBA S = B RALATE R AARE 7
S RARBHINEZE

A&7
BREAREERFDREBLTBERRE
FEAL35 7 397,000 7£.(2019 4F : 410,0007T)
REBETEING LT BROINEFTHSEH
800,000,000 % (2019 4F : 800,000,000 f% )
FR 72 2020 81 BU4F 2 & 2019 B B 4F [5 3F 4%
BATEMNBEEE AR ALekE
SEATEGREARRFIER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020
2020 AL E

21 Equity-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions
The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which was approved and adopted by the
shareholders of the Company by way of written resolutions
passed on 21.3.2018. No share option has been granted since
the commencement of the Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Company.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme and

eligibility criteria

The eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme to
whom options may be granted by the Board shall include
any directors, employee, executives, officers, suppliers,
customers, consultants, agents, advisers, joint venture
partners and related entities, who at the absolute
discretion of the Board, has contributed to the Group
(“Eligible Person”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 L &

21 Equity-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed
80,000,000, representing 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of these consolidated
financial statements.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Person
(including both exercised and outstanding options under
the Share Option Scheme) in any 12-month period (when
aggregated with any Shares subject to options granted
during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company other than those options
granted pursuant to specific approval by the Shareholders
in a general meeting) must not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) under the Share Option
Scheme or any other share option schemes of our
Company to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant: (i) representing in
aggregate more than 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (i)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must
be approved by the Shareholders.

At s iE B AR RER

£ 2
A

(c)

(d)

R AHEBROEE

BRI R B H B PG B AR i 1R
TR ] TR TR AR D B8 A HEA B
838 80,000,000 1% (HE RZEHE
BHHREABNEETRNDEEH
10%) °

BESERALTTEZLR
EEMI2MEAME - RFEEER
ATHERE (B EREERERT S
BT M H ARITE BB ) AT
e BT RE FREITHRD A - &
X ERIRIE AN D B H A A i
B M B (T B R REER
PR AR E BRI ET R H 2%
i) PR AR M & T
SHBBARBCETHRARN1% -

fim— B EZRES B LIENTES
SEMESS A BB A TR EEM
ERE 28RREBEEER TR
(BHEZB)IE12@ALM - REE
ARAE ST &I 3k AR A BT ) H A B AR A 5 T
ZEE R TFRATZ A BRE
(BIEEITE - EFHEREARITED
RERRE) 1T BERERBTREITZ
i85 ()& LBBEEITRD0.1%
R()ESEE A RERAgARER
FTo R BT 8 - BEBIRS
BEBT  AlfE— SR ERELA
B AL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020

2020 AL E

21

Equity-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Time of exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28
days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the option
period. After the expiration of the option period, no further
options shall be offered or granted but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect in all other respects. Options granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after
the end of the ten-year period.

Subscription price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme, subject to any
adjustments made in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must be a
Business Day); (i) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option (which must be a Business Day);
and (jii) the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration
of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of the
grant of an option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 L &

21 Equity-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions (Continued)

(9)

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Company may, by ordinary resolution in general
meeting, or the Board may at any time terminate the
operation of the Share Option Scheme and in such event
no further option shall be offered or granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect and options granted
prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
Subject to the aforesaid, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from the date of adoption, after which
period no further options will be offered or granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects with respect to
options granted during the life of the Share Option
Scheme.

22 Significant Related Party Transactions

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, there were no significant related party transactions
in FY2020 and FY2019.

e N/

IESEFT ARG AERH N
AR B @)

(9)

BREFEANERE™
ARA(BBERRAGEBE @R
AE)REFGUNEMARMRLE
iRt BIMEE - BRI EHENE
hEksR g ARk - B REARERT &1k
A HE M7 E MR+ RN A
R MBI L AT A0
PR S A B AR IR PE A AT B R B U
Al FATE - A LAERRT - B
FTEI MR B BERT T HERB AL E
B HERTEBENRHAREER
1& - BRB R ST BIIEOCEL B AR A AT B
BRHARHNBREN S EREHE
77 TS 445 T R AR

22 BEAAEIRS

BGAMBREREMM S ESEIN
202081 U B 20198 R FE E L | & K
REHRS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 A E
23 Commitments 23
(@) Capital commitments (a)
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the
reporting period but not recognised in the consolidated

(b)

financial statements is as follows:

HAHE

BRI
R ERRD T NBERRER S 55 R
RERBWEAF T

2020 2019
2020 § 20194
$’000 $000
Fx Tt
Capital commitments in respect of TWE - BEREREELD
property, plant and equipment B EYE 1,371 2,564

(b)

Operating lease commitments (non-cancellable)
Where the Group is the lessee,

As at 30.9.2020, the Group was committed to making the
following payments in respect of non-cancellable
operating lease of land:

EERERE (T AEE)
EAEEEAFREA

MR2020F9 A30H » AEBE Al
B L 2 EEH AT

2019

20194

$000

T

Not later than one year TBRR—F 34
Later than one year and ER—FETNERAT

not later than five years 134

Later than five years ERAF 198

366

The lease of land is for an initial term of 30 years with an
option for a further term of 30 years. Lease payments are
usually adjusted to reflect market rentals.

The lease has no contingent rent provision included in the
contract.

As disclosed in Note 2(b), the Group has adopted IFRS
16 on 1.10.2019. These lease payments have been
recognised as right-of-use asset and lease liability on the
statement of financial position as at 1.10.2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RME

for FY2020

2020 A E

24 Operating Segments

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker, who
is the Group’s CEO, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance is specifically focused on the key
products sold, namely, tissue products and hygiene-related
products.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is
included below. Performance is measured based on the
following bases, as included in the internal management reports
that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO. Both segment revenue
and profit are used to measure performance as management
believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating
the level of activities and results of these segments.

° Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
Assistance provided by one segment to another, including
sharing of assets, is not measured.

° The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross
profit.

° Management considers the disclosure of segment assets
and liabilities for tissue products, hygiene-related products
and others respectively is not practical and not
meaningful. Hence, no disclosure of segment assets and
liabilities has been made.

° In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue.

There are no operating segments that have been aggregated to
form the above reportable operating segments.

24

Z<<< AR L 7'3\ B

mMEZEERKE(RERDTHRER)E
BEMBNRORERLFHRE K
SPRIZHEER  EERERLE
AR M

ERBAE2RDMHEEEHEINMT -
EERBRE &VZIKEITTEQZ@%%E@?E’JW
HERBEN TIIEEFE - D aflas
EARIERTEEAE - %:”@J%*WZEZi?
ERRHEZENEEEKEREETT
&SR

Iﬂ]

o  WHEERAXTNSERNEZHRYBAELE
Yzt R ﬁﬂi*ﬁ‘?ﬁ“*ﬁ RiZ
R TR 1HE) - BEDMEE

o

o ERNEEFFIAFEEE/ER -

s ERERRZARBEFLEMER ®

EREERREGOEENBEL

TERTESSE - Bt - SIERED
MEERARE -

o  KRESHEBENND MERS

EREERBEBEBREHDIER -
MESHEEDIBAAK il r] 2R EE
DEB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 A E
24 Operating Segments (Continued) 24 EDE ()
Hygiene-
Tissue related
products products Others Total
ke
BEEESR HEER Hith st
$000 $000 $'000 $000
Tt v Tt Tt
2020 2020 F
Revenue from external K EINEE P U ER
customers and reportable KAl 2|y EPU e
segment revenue 11,264 1,175 788 13,227
Segment profit o 2B5% F 2,567 416 128 3,111
2019 2019
Revenue from external R EINIE F YU
customers and reportable WEIER T E L
segment revenue 13,659 1,237 572 15,468
Segment profit 2 BB F 3,061 427 22 3,510
Reconciliations of reportable segment profit o 2 |7 IEFWE IR
2020 2019
2020 20194
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Reportable segment profit Al 23|y ELEF 3,111 3,510
Other income H AU A 574 176
Unallocated expenses OB (3,071) (3,056)
Interest expenses FER% (19) (12)
Consolidated profit before taxation ERE BREL A% A 595 618
The Group’s revenue arises from external customers located in REBHWES R B R RFTINERIINEERF ©
Singapore. The Group carries out its operations in Singapore REERINEHEITEE - BAEEME
and all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in FEMENE EN AR NS ©
Singapore.
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FEMBmRME
for FY2020
2020 L &

24 Operating Segments (Continued) 24
Major customers
The following are major customers with revenue equal to or
more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue in FY2020 and

W AR /37 =
KD E(E)

FEEF
AR AR 2020 81 B F fE & 2019 B L F /&
HAREERBREBERLZRI10%MEE

FY2019: BE
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
$°000 $000
T i
Customer A ZEA 1,469 1,814
Customer B %FB 1,255 1,810
2,724 3,624
25 Subsidiaries 25 MIBAR]
Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the financial year are: RAMHRFEERNWBARFEER
Country of
incorporation/
Principal place
of business Particulars of
and form issued and fully
of business paid up share  Percentage
Name Principal activities structure capital of equity held
IMRIER/
TEXBHER BEAR i
8 TERH ERRBFS  BERFNFE ARl
2019
2019%
%
Held by the Company BANRMEE
SPP Investments Limited © SPP Investments Limited @ Investment holding BVI/Singapore,  $1 100
REER limited liability
company
EERHE/
Mg BRER
NS
Held by SPP Investments Limited £ SPP Investments Limited 55
Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd. ©  Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd. ®  Supply of tissue products to Singapore/ $580,000 100
corporate customers Singapore,
MOEEPREGEEER  limited liabilty
company
R/ $E
BREAAH

@ Not required to be audited
© Audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP, a principal member firm of HLB
International

@ BETAEZ
©) i Foo Kon Tan LLP CHEEBREZME R
A)) F|ix
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R MEE

for FY2020

2020 A E

26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 26 B REMREIE B RN

Policies

The Group has documented financial risk management policies.
These policies set out the Group’s overall business strategies
and its risk management philosophy. The Group is exposed to
financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and market price
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial
markets on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to
identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these
financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risks. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity
analysis for interest rate risk (Note 26(c)) and foreign currency
risk (Note 26(d)).

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against
fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 L &

26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the Group to incur a financial loss. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other
receivables. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the
practice of dealing only with those customers of
appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient security
where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other
financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing
only with high credit quality counterparties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual growth while
minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk
exposure.

The Group has established a credit policy under which
the creditworthiness of each new customer is evaluated
individually before the Group grants credit to the
customer. Credit limits are established for each customer,
which represents the maximum open amount without
requiring approval from the directors. Payments will be
required to be made upfront by customers which do not
meet the Group’s credit requirements.

Amounts due from customers are closely monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis to identify any non-payment
or delay in payment, and to understand the reasons, so
that appropriate actions can be taken promptly. Through
on-going credit monitoring and existing collection
procedures in place, credit risk is mitigated substantially.

The Group’s trade receivables comprise two major
debtors (2019: one major debtor) each represented 14%
(2019: 12%) of trade receivables.

26

SRR EIE B IENMBGR (8)

(a)
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RREESEEEAERNEFHETR
5 o
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HERRAEESE THEAKERE
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AEET SR NERERMRKRES
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A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 AL E

26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Amount not paid after the credit period granted will be
considered past due. The credit terms granted to
customers are based on the Group’s assessment of their
creditworthiness and in accordance with the Group’s

policy.

The Group has trade and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents that are subject to the expected credit
loss model. While other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents are subject to the impairment requirements of
IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss is insignificant.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses (“ECLs”) which uses a
lifetime ECL allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the trade receivables. The Group has
identified the GDP and the unemployment rate of the
countries in which it operates to be the most relevant
factors and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates
based on expected changes in these factors.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, among
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 L &

26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

Loss allowance for other receivables is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs which is consistent with
the approach adopted for trade receivables. The ECLs on
other receivables are estimated by reference to track
record of the counterparties, their business and financial
conditions where information is available, and knowledge
of any events or circumstances impeding recovery of the
amounts. At the end of the reporting period, no loss
allowance for other receivables was required.

Exposure to credit risk

As the Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum
exposure to credit risk for each class of financial
instruments is the carrying amount of that class of
financial instruments presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank
deposits and trade receivables. Cash is held with
established financial institutions. Further details of credit
risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note
6.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated
with financial instruments that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk may result
from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to
its fair value.

The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and
liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of stand-by credit facilities.

SRR EIE B IENMBGR (8)

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
for FY2020
2020 AL E

26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 26
Policies (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b)

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows:

SRR EIE B IENMBGR (8)

RBESER(E)
TEROMAKEIREORBRASR
EfENMBEENIEIER

Carrying  Contractual Lessthan  Between 1 More than
amount  cash flows 1year andb5years 5years
CE) 15%
REE RERE 1R B55R BE5F
$000 $000 $'000 $000 $:000
T T T T T
2020 2020 F
Non-derivative financial JE{TEBBEE
liabilities
Borrowings (Note 11) fE 3R (BE11) 7,217 7,225 7,108 17 -
Lease liability (Note 12) HEEEMET12) 273 328 33 131 164
Trade and other payables &5 & H iS58
(Note 13) (Ps13) 1,671 1,671 1,671 - -
9,161 9,224 8,812 248 164
2019 2019 F
Non-derivative financial F{T4EIBEE
liabilities
Borrowings (Note 11) EENGIERRD) 317 340 108 232 -
Trade and other payables B 5 R H e 318
(Note 13) (HE13) 2,443 2,443 2,443 - -
2,760 2,783 2,551 232 -

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the
maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at
significantly different amounts.

The Group ensures that there are adequate funds to meet
all its obligations in a timely and cost-effective manner.
The Group maintains sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents and has available adequate amount of
committed credit facilities from financial institutions to
meet its working capital requirements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 BAUAF 2
26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 26 BFFSREBREIE B AR MR (g)
Policies (Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) F=EE
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future FEERAREENHETAENATE
cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will SARRIBERERTSFEREEHMmH
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. R B AR o
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily AEEFABRNFIERRKREZREF
from bank balances at floating rates. Lease liability, bank BiR1T#EHS - HERE  RITERK
loan and fixed deposits bear interest at fixed rates. All EHF IR EE M EREF B - B HA
other financial assets and liabilities are interest-free. MBEERBBERRER -
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of REHKR - sHEM BT ARKREE
the interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows: mr
2020 2019
2020 fF 20194
$’000 $000
Ft T
Fixed rate instruments EEIA
Financial assets WMiEEE
— fixed deposit — FTHIEFE® 1,007 5,528
Financial liabilities MBaE
— bank loan — RITEXK (217) (317)
— lease liability — HEARE (273) -
(490) (817)
Variable rate instruments FETIA
Financial assets WG EE
— bank balances — IRITHEH 2,938 1,494
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 AL E

26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate assets or
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a
change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period
would not affect profit or loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had
been 100 (2019: 100) basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s results net of
tax and equity would have been $29,000 (2019: $15,000)
higher/lower, arising as a result of higher/lower interest
income from floating rate bank balances.

The magnitude represents management’s assessment of
the likely movement in interest rates under normal
economic conditions. This analysis has not taken into
account the associated tax effects and assumes that all
other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain
constant.

The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable
interest rates available without increasing its interest rate
exposure.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises when
transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising
from transactions that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries, SGD. The foreign currencies in which these
transactions are denominated are primarily HKD and USD
(2019: HKD and MYR).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for FY2020
2020 L &

26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 26

Policies (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Consequently, the Group is exposed to movements in

foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group’s exposures in financial instruments to various

foreign currencies are as follows:

SRR EIE B IENMBGR (8)

(d)

S mB ()
Ft - AN EE BRSNS E X,

LA

ag o
ZN

REBRP Y T AR STEINE R,
SINR

HKD MYR
BT <LHE
$'000 $000
FT FIT
2020 2020
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEED 60 -
2019 2019
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED 3,590 -
Trade and other payables B 5 KR E bR FE - (14)
Net exposure R 3,590 (14)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the HKD and MYR
exchange rates (against SGD), with all other variables held

constant, of the Group’s results net of tax and equity.

SN L B SRR 3T
TRINFEREEM2BTENER
T AEEMRHRERES RS
HETRSHEXRELHMITT) B
BEMEEBOBRE

2020 2019
2020 & 2019

$000 $'000

Fr FT

HKD — strengthened 5% (2019: 5%) Bt — FHES% (20194 : 5%) 3 180
— weakened 5% (2019: 5%) — B21E5% (20194 : 5%) 3) (180)

MYR — strengthened 5% (2019: 5%) <& — F{E5% (20194 : 5%) - M
— weakened 5% (2019: 5%) — BB 5% (20194 : 5%) - 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020
2020 AL E

26 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
(e) Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices.

The Group does not hold any quoted or marketable
financial instruments, hence, is not exposed to any
movement in market prices.

27 Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(@ To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern;

(b)  To support the Group’s stability and growth;

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability; and

(d)  To provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital
requirements of the Group, and capital efficiency, prevailing and
projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group currently does not adopt any formal
dividend policy.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital
management during the financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRME
for FY2020
2020 L &

27 Capital Management (Continued)

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital

requirements.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net

debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt comprises

borrowings, trade and other payables and lease liability, less

cash and cash equivalents. Total capital represents equity

27

BRER ()

REHE

REE
B BR

/A= |

WEZ B IMRHEINENE AR ER o

NMEEEABLRERER  BIF
B R INFHET - FEBBREE
ZREMENFIEAREE & B

ReLReEEY REXNEARRHES

attributable to owners of the Company. AFE(RHERS ©
2020 2019
2020 & 20194
$’000 $000
Fx Fx
Borrowings B 7,217 317
Lease liability HEERE 273 -
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAFER IR 1,671 2,514
Total debt WAETS 9,161 2,831
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BERIBEEEY (3,948) (7,028)
Net debt/(cash) &%,/ CR&)FE 5,213 (4,197)
Equity attributable to owners of RABMER ARG R
the Company 15,688 15,150
Total capital and net debt/(cash) BEARER(B&)FHE 20,901 10,953
Gearing ratio BERBELE 0.25 N.M.

N.M. denotes not meaningful

NM. EEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020
2020 AL E
28 Financial Instruments 28 BT A

Accounting classifications of financial assets and MR EERMEEENETSE
financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities

in each category are as follows:

SRS AR RS E B EEENT

Other financial

Amortised liabilities at
cost amortised cost Total
R 8H R A
SRR A HE A
88 R A b S =R st
$’000 $’000 $’000
Fx Fr Fr
2020 2020
Financial assets BBEE
Trade and other receivables* Z 5 KHE MR 3,861 - 3,861
Cash and cash equivalents He RIBESEEY 3,948 - 3,948
7,809 - 7,809
Financial liabilities B%as
Borrowings BN - 7,217 7,217
Lease liability HEBRE - 273 273
Trade and other payables B 5 & H b e~ 508 - 1,671 1,671
- 9,161 9,161
Other financial
Amortised liabilities at
cost  amortised cost Total
biog: Sz )0 N
HIBR B H A
A AR W% aE BET
$'000 $’000 $'000
Tt T Tz
2019 2019
Financial assets B EE
Trade and other receivables BN EMEWRIA 3,012 - 3,012
Cash and cash equivalents BeRESEEY 7,028 - 7,028
10,040 - 10,040
Financial liabilities Bkas
Borrowing B - 317 317
Trade and other payables* B 5 R H A E IR - 2,443 2,443
- 2,760 2,760
* Excluding input GST/output GST * BRiETERS SHIET SN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

for FY2020

2020 L &

28 Financial Instruments (Continued) 28 BT HE )
Fair values NTE

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities with a
maturity of less than one year is assumed to approximate their
fair values.

However, the Group does not anticipate that the carrying
amounts recorded at the end of the reporting period would be
significantly different from the values that would eventually be
received or settled.

The face value less any estimated credit adjustments for
financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one
year, comprising trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, short-term borrowings, and trade and other
payables, are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair
value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate
available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair
value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (as is prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on
observable market data.

R—FRIANPHEENRBENKREE
BREREEREERS

AW AEBEERRESHRALENERT
ERSFEAPRKEENBEETSTEEAN
HA e

R—FRIHNMBEEIBEB(BEES
MEMENTKIE ReMREEEY B
HME AR E 5 I Ho At FE A 5008 RO T (EDR
EAEF EEARNBEREEEQTE
HE - HEMBAENQFER  BHERA
SERBEFETARBNRITHSHE -
RAREEHREREMIAFL

DREERDE
TRIZMEEEDTUAAFEAENHBEL
H o NRBRIEEZRMAT -

F1R: HRABEXBBEERTISNRE
(RFAZE)

BEEXBENBARBEAERE
B E 1RSI RAE - T B
(BMEF) k% (BIREERATAE) -
)53

FoM

FIW: EEXBENBABURLIFERN

AEENTISEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020
2020 A E
28 Financial Instruments (Continued) 28 WL Ew
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEERSE(E)
Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for WIEIRAFEFEERBEHLAFLENTB
which fair values are disclosed * EERAEGE"
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B1R F2 B3R @st
$:000 $000 $000 $000
T T T Fr
2020 2020
Bank loan RITER 217 - 217
2019 20194
Bank loan RITER 317 - 317
* Exclude financial assets and financial liabilities whose carrying * TREFEEREHEXATEEEQTE
amounts measured on the amortised cost basis approximate HENMKEERYBEE REAKS
their fair values due to their short-term or repayable on demand BREATESNIRERER  BRREEY
nature and where the effect of discounting is immaterial TEKX
The carrying amounts of interest-bearing loans that reprice R ERRABEANENEENTEER
within six months of the end of the reporting period approximate REEEAEQAFERS FIEEMFEE
their fair values. The fair values of all other interest-bearing loans REAFETREIRFBIR A S K F
are calculated based on discounted expected future principal BEeREFE -
and interest cash flows.
29 Dividends 29 Hx B

No dividends were declared for FY2020 and FY2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YN 2
e EHRRME
for FY2020
2020 AL 2
30 Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of 30 ZNA BB F& iR 5% K& 7
the Company
(a) Statement of Financial Position (@) BFEARRE
2020 2019
2020 20194
$°000 $°000
Fr Fi
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in subsidiary R—EHBRAERE = =
Current assets REEE
Prepayments ERFE 29 31
Amount due from a subsidiary (non-trade)  FEW—FEIMB AR ZIE (EBS) 6,067 6,343
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBESEEY 60 60
6,156 6,434
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A M A B TIE 16 33
16 33
Net current assets REEEFHE 6,140 6,401
Total assets less current liabilities EEBRERRBEE 6,140 6,401
Net assets EERE 6,140 6,401
EQUITY xR
Equity attributable to owners of RAREBAEGES
the Company
Share capital R A 1,338 1,338
Reserves i 4,802 5,063
Total equity AT 6,140 6,401
* less than $1,000 A H1,0007T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRME

for FY2020
2020 AL E

30 Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of
the Company (Continued)
(b) Reserves

30 ARBMBARK MFERE @

(b)

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
MR E 25T EE Fo
$°000 $°000 $'000
T T Fr
Balance at 1.10.2018 "2018F1081H
2R 6,221 (732) 5,489
Loss for the year, representing FAEE  EBEA
total comprehensive loss for the year 2 HE 184228 - (426) (426)
Balance at 30.9.2019 201949 A 30H
2 &R 6,221 (1,158) 5,063
Balance at 1.10.2019 7"2019F1081H
ok =3 6,221 (1,158) 5,063
Loss for the year, representing FREE - BFRNEE
total comprehensive loss for the year  [E51E 42 %8 - (261) (261)
Balance at 30.9.2020 A 20209 A30H
2R 6,221 (1,419) 4,802

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board on 11.12.2020 and was signed on its
behalf.

Chua Liang Sie
ERE

Director
EF
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
B ERHME

RESULTS E
FY2020 FY2019 FY2018 FY2017
2020 2019 2018 2017
HREE HREE MHEE BB
$°000 $°000 $000 $000
T Fit F5t F5
Revenue Wzs 13,227 15,468 13,635 12,186
Profit/(Loss) for the year FREMN,(EE) 397 410 (1,303) 740
Total comprehensive income/  ERZ2EKES/(Ei8)
(loss) for the year @ 538 853 (1,303) 548
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
At At At At
30.9.2020 30.9.2019 30.9.2018 30.9.2017
742020 F 20194 20184 2017 £
9H30H 9H30H 9H30H 9H30H
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tt Tt T
Total assets BEE 26,232 19,256 18,325 13,383
Total liabilities BERRE (10,544) (4,106) (4,028) 5,342)
Total equity S iaEE 15,688 15,150 14,297 8,041
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

In this report, the following expressions shall have the meanings set out below unless the context requires otherwise.

EARRET - BRIEXER B T

“AGM”
[BERAEAFKE]

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

[ARRI ) = [ E 2 Am A )

“associate(s)”

[BZA

“Audit Committee”

[FZ

&

oA
o

\

“Board” or “Board of Directors”
[EFg]

“Board Committee(s)” or “Committee”

[EfgZBg]%XEg

“BVI’
[RBEZES]

“CG Code”

[EEERST A

“Chairman” or “our Chairman”
=

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

AEBMTRE

annual general meeting of the Company
ARBBRREFARE

articles of association of our Company adopted on 21.3.2018 and which
became effective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
M20184F 3 A 21 BE4 LN £ B AR A A A RIABKERMB (B TEHEET)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
BB GEM LR AR T 1R

the audit committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with written terms
of reference in compliance with Code Provision C.3.3 of the CG Code
EEgRTEZEE S R2018F3A21 B - WIRMEEATHIECI3E
SF RIMER ST #9453 78 1l 7 T L 25 T Bk e 0 [

the board of Directors of our Company
KRRERE

the committee of our Board
EEeLEE

the British Virgin Islands
KBRS

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules
GEM L #f 8%+ R AT b B a<F A

the chairman of our Board
EERFRE

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARKEME @ SARENS REERWIBLEMS - TEESS  BPFIREE
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Circuit Breaker”

Nzl Ecyicll

“close associate(s)”
[ERIHE A

“Companies Ordinance”

NSRS

“Company”, “our Company”,

“we” or “us”

NI E= A4

“Controlling Shareholder(s)

[ R R

“core connected person(s)”

[ REAL

“COVID-19”

[COVID-19]

“Deed of Non-competition”

[T#F R

an elevated set of safe distancing measures — including but not limited to (a)
closure of schools, entertainment outlets, retail shops, and businesses that do
not provide essential services, (b) prohibition of on-premise dining, (c) severe
restrictions on social gatherings and all modes of public transportation, and (d)
strict enforcement of working from home — imposed by the Singapore
government to pre-empt the trend of increasing transmission of COVID-19 in
Singapore, from 7.4.2020 to 18.6.2020

TN BT 4558 5 COVID-19 1 ¥ iR B 18 R B 20 if 10 2020 %R 4 A 7 H 22020
F6A1BAEHN —ELEHRBRAREN - BIERE T\EEEA( ) BRI - REE
S BEEMRIIFREERRBOHRE O BEEERER  (OBRBRHITS
BRERMBERENALRE  ROBEBRATERELR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
BB GEM 5 AP IR T H) 2=

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or modified from time to time
KARHERT » WAIESHHFBENIFE 622 F 2 7 1&HI

Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited (B Yt (1977) /% B R 2 7]), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21.9.2017 with limited liability
HX 977 ERER AR - R2017F9 A21 BERSHETMKIANEREER
NS

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules and unless the
context requires otherwise, refers to Mr. LS Chua, Ms. Chua, Mr. LC Chua and
YJH Group. Mr. LS Chua, Ms. Chua, Mr. LC Chua and YJH Group are a group
of controlling shareholders

BEBGEM ERAIPE TEVORE - RIEXESBME  BRERBEE  HEXt
BRPEERYIHER - ZRBEE  BLt+  BERBEERYIHEER R —HIF
e

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
BB GEM LR AlfE T80 R &

the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19), a respiratory illness caused by a
novel coronavirus that was first identified during an outbreak in Wuhan, Hubei
Province, the PRC

2019 B ARIE F ik (COVID-19) + —TE B TEAR TR 55 5 REHIPF IR R AR~ 7 B
MR R ETRIE+T EERER

the deed of non-competition dated 21.3.2018 and executed by our Controlling
Shareholders in favour of our Company (for ourselves and as trustee for our
subsidiaries)

ERBERARRFRZSAN (BEARRIRIERENBARNZFEAN) FFELBEMA
20184 3 A 21 BT F Ik
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Director(s)”
[EF]

“ERP”
[ERP]

“FY2019”
[2019 T L |

“FY2020”
[2020 U |

“FY2021”
[2021 BT FE |

“GDP”
[ ERE]

“GEM”
[GEM]

“GEM Listing Rules”
[GEM Em#i A1

“GFA”
[ZEmAE ]

“Group”, “our Group”, “we”,
“our” or “us”

[ ] =k T3]

“HKD” or “HK$”
&)

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
[&E]

“IFRSs”

[ BIRR B 75 ¥R 5 22 R

the director(s) of our Company
RRFES

enterprise resource planning

TEERETE

financial year ended 30.9.2019
#HZE2019F 9 A30H LM BFE

financial year ended 30.9.2020
HZE2020%49 A0 B It HFE

financial year ending 30.9.2021
#HZ=2021F9 A0 HIEMBFE

gross domestic product
AN A EEAR(E

GEM operated by the Stock Exchange
P B8 52 PTE (E B GEM

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM, as amended,
supplemented or modified from time to time
KARERT » HANEHHGEMES Ei il

gross floor area
BEEE

our Company and our subsidiaries or, where the context so requires, with
respect to the period before which our Company became the holding company
of our current subsidiaries, our Company’s current subsidiaries or the
businesses operated by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case
may be)

RRABREMBLAR RN ESEME AR RKASERENE QAR
NEZAHE - BEAARREMBARNZENBATKEAINEF QAR GRIER
ME ) EITHIER

Hong Kong dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
EREEEE BT B

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEBEFRITTHER

International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board
Rt R B B R H) BIFR B TS A
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“independent third party(ies)”
(B E =7

“Joint Company Secretary(ies)” or
“Company Secretary”
(B ARWE] s [ARWE]

“J1C”

[JTC]

“jumbo roll tissue” or “JRT”
[ RERAETHEL]

“Listing”
[ F)

“Listing Date”
[ £ A A

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Memorandum” or “Memorandum of
Association”
[ R4 sk [ ERE R4 ]

“Mr. LC Chua”

[EERFB5EE]

“Mr. LS Chua”

[HRBEAE]

party(ies) which are not connected person(s) of our Company
WIARATEEATHAL

the joint company secretary(ies) or company secretary of our Company
RABIMNEE A WER QT WE

JTC Corporation (formerly known as Jurong Town Corporation), a statutory
board under the Ministry of Trade and Industry of Singapore

JTC Corporation (Bi1#& Jurong Town Corporation) * #1013 & 5 T 23T B A TF &6
Fq

toilet tissue that is commonly used in public toilet cubicles of commercial
buildings
S REREE AR

the listing of the Shares on GEM
R P GEM £

16.4.2018, the date on which the Shares are listed on GEM
2018 4 A16 H » IRH A GEM LY H Ej

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM. For
the avoidance of doubt, the Main Board excludes GEM

BT ENB AR (T RERETS)  BYNGEM I EEAWITENE - BE
AEE - EIRTEIEGEM

memorandum of association of our Company adopted on 21.3.2018 and which
became effective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
RATR20184F 3 A 21 BERMEAEMER KA - B L BHRAER - L PRERT

Mr. Chua Liang Chui (2 R P9t ), an executive Director, one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the younger brother of Ms. Chua and Mr. LS Chua and uncle of
Mr. WH Chua
PITEFREP—BERRRER PBEE  RELLTRERBEENRPREX
V& I A BRI

Mr. Chua Liang Sie (22 R # 5L 4 ), an executive Director, chairman of our Board
and chief executive officer of our Company and one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the younger brother of Ms. Chua and elder brother of Mr. LC
Chua, and the father of Mr. WH Chua

RATBPITEE BFSEF  THEFGEEP - BERRRERBRE - BE
RS - B R PBIAERI I RESOESEE SR
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Mr. WH Chua”

[£3085 4

“Ms. Chua”

E: 3 equull

“MYR” or “RM”
[BRAELE
“Nomination Committee”
[REZEE]

“0.a."

[54 ]

“paper pulp” or “pulp”
[ 4542 |

“Previous Year”

[ E—FE]

“Prospectus”
[k =12 ]

“Relevant Year”
[BEAFE ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHEZE g

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
[ARE]

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao) (253054 55 4 ), an executive Director, the
son of Mr. LS Chua and the nephew of Ms. Chua and Mr. LC Chua
WITESE AL REREBAENRFURBRLZTRERPEENER

Ms. Chua Joo Gek (%¢¥i £ Z ), an executive Director, one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the elder sister of Mr. LS Chua and Mr. LC Chua and the aunt of
Mr. WH Chua

WTESFETP - EERRREREL L RERBAAERER BRERBE K&
B SRR

Malaysian dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Malaysia
R PE R A TE B S 2k P g o Al

the nomination committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision A.5.2 of the CG Code
EEEBETHIREZES  N2018F3A21 AR - WIREXEEATRIEASL2
R <F R SCRO AR T8 I AT B & T Bk &2

per annum or per year
B

the raw material used to produce tissue paper, which includes recycle pulp,
soft wood pulp, hard wood pulp, virgin pulp, fluff pulp and mixed pulp
EEGERMMARME - BEEKARSE - BURGEE - BRMRE  RARE  &E
AR FOR G AR

FY2019
2019 [E

the prospectus of the Company dated 27.3.2018
AREIHEIA20184 3 A 27 ARBRER

FY2020
2020 L [E

the remuneration committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.1.2 of the CG
Code

EEZEgRTHNHEWNEE S  M2018F3A21 B - WIRGEEGTAIEB1.2
16T BIME ST 5 T il 5T L 25 TED B A 6 &

the lawful currency of the PRC
FEEEES
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Reorganisation”

[E#]

“Required Standard of Dealings”

[R5 0FIRE ]

“Restricted Business”

[ PR %75 ]

“Safe Management Measures”

[ 2 BB

“SFO”

[ & 7 N B E 1p) |

“S$” or “SGD” or “$”
(37T ] s [#rhnsg ol sk [T )

“Share(s)”

[Bfn ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[&3R ]

“Share Offer”
[ fn 35 ]

“Share Option Scheme”

[ A et &1

“Singapore”
[0 |

the corporate reorganisation of our Group in preparation for the Listing as
described under the section “History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure
— Reorganisation” of the Prospectus

AEEREHELMMETHARER  FEERNERER[EL EEERARAE
% E=A] 5

the required standard of dealings regarding securities transactions by the
Directors as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
GEM MR AIFE 548 Z 567 (R EFHEITEF R IR H U FIRE

any business and related business activities engaged by our Group

AEBEENTMRS MAAEERS LS

Practices implemented by the Singapore government to ensure that
workplaces are safe from COVID-19 to avoid the need to restore tight
restrictive measures such as Circuit Breaker, and include compulsory work
from home arrangements, limits on social gatherings, minimum 1m safe social
distancing, etc.

BTN BT B RER TIESFT T X COVID-19 R 2 2 M B HEE 1 - AR E R
BEARHIMR GGG - MEET G (BEREIERNA  REERES - 20 1KkH
LR RIRESE)

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or modified from time to time
BHEREEGN (BBENESTIE) - LIREE] - Hrdisk

Singapore dollar(s), the lawful currency of Singapore
FINEETE R INE T

ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.01 each in the share capital of our
Company
ARA R AR SR EE0.01 B o iy T i@ Ak

holder(s) of Shares
[LSVESESUN

the public offer and placing of Shares in connection with the Listing
RETAREE REERG

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by our Company on 21.3.2018,
a summary of principal terms of which is set out in “E. Share Option Scheme”
in Appendix V to the Prospectus

RABHR2018F3 21 BAEIGRHRMANBIREE - EFZBRFTHMEHNBR
ERMEE R [E BRER S

the Republic of Singapore
N3 HANEL

2020 &3/ B (1977) ERAERADF

151



152

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“SPP Investments”
[ SPP Investments ]
“sq.m.”

[F5K]

“Stock Exchange” or “SEHK”
[ B2 P ]

“subsidiary(ies)”
[ BT/~ el ]

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[FERE]

“Sunlight Paper”

[ Sunlight Paper |

“United States” or “U.S.”
E3=0

“USD” or “US$”
=

“YJH Group”

[YIHEE]

s
[%)]

Notes:

— all dates are shown in d/dd.m/mm.yyyy format -

— all figures shown in $'m, $ million, $'000 and % are approximates —

SPP Investments Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability
on 6.10.2017 and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

SPP Investments Limited * 7201710 A6 B ERBRZEHSHEMKINERE A
Al REARENEEZEME LA

square metre(s)

FHK

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMARXHMABRAR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Companies Ordinance
BB RAHEDIPTE T #RE

a Shareholder within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
HaBFRHERIEXVIBZER ZBER

Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore with
limited liability on 8.7.1977 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd. * 71977 %7 A 8 BEF MM ML BR A
A REDEINEEZENERA

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction
EFBRAERE HEL BRI EREEENMAE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EREFEERET

YJH Group Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability on
31.8.2017, one of our Controlling Shareholders, and is owned as to
approximately 65.52% by Mr. LS Chua, 17.24% by Ms. Chua and 17.24% by
Mr. LC Chua.

YJH Group Limited * /2201768 A31 HARBE LS FMK LN ERAF
REMEFR—BERBRR - AERBEE BRI RERPEEIRNERLD
65.52% * 17.24% [ 17.24% B AR 1

per cent
Bokt

FAE -
FIERXBHHAR/ A/ FRAKRR

EBEET  TRRkAaS W RELUE
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